ED 113 486

95

CE 004 996

AUTHOR Wernick, Walter: And Others A Career Education Primer for Educators. Informati TITLE Series No. 4. INSTITUTION Northern Illinois Univ., De Kalb. ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education. SPONS AGENCY National Inst. of Education (DHFW), Washington, PUB DATE 5 Sep 75 NOTE 109p. AVAILABLE FROM ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education, 204 Gabel Hall, Northern Illinois University, DeKalb, Illinois 60115 (\$4.50) MF-\$0.76 HC-\$5.70 Plus Postage EDRS PRICE DESCRIPTORS *Bibliographies: Career Awareness: *Career Education: Community Involvement; Community Resources; Pducational Administration; Educational Change; Educational Innovation; Educational Philosophy; Educational Programs; Elementary Secondary Education; *Guides; Instructional Programs; Post Secondary Education; Program Development; Program Evaluation; Program Planning; School Community Relationship; 'Vocational Development IDENTIFIERS ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education

ABSTRACT

The first of two parts of the career education primer focuses on the following aspects of career education: the need for the refocusing of educational systems toward career education: ways of incorporating career development elements, life activities, and a democratic ethic into career education programs; methods of including parents, families, and communities into the process of career education; the fashioning of career education programs out of existing instructional programs; the utilization of career resources available in the community; sample programs in such community involved career education programs at the various educational levels; the national career education resource center, the ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education; the planning and evaluation of new career education programs; and the professional commitments which will be necessary to involve educational personnel and institutions in career education. Part 2 of the primer, a bibliography of ERIC career education literature which comprises over half of the document, describes the ERIC system and lists 50 pages of career education literature by subject under the headings of: philosophy; programs; program organization, administration, and evaluation; and education in career education, (JR)

Documents acquired by ERIC include many informal unpublished materials not available from other sources. ERIC makes every effort to obtain the best copy available. Nevertheless, items of marginal reproducibility are often encountered and this affects the of the microfiche and hardcopy reproductions ERIC makes available via the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS). is not responsible for the quality of the original document. Reproductions supplied by EDRS are the best that can be made from pinal.

A CAREER EDUCATION PRIMER FOR EDUCATORS

bу

Walter Wernick
David V. Tiedeman
John Eddy
Betty J. Bosdell

U S DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH EDUCATION & WELFARE MATIONAL INSTITUTE OF EDUCATION

THIS DOCUMENT HAS BEEN REPROOUCED EXACTLY AS RECEIVED FROM
THE PERSON OR ORGANIZATION DRIGINATING IT POINTS OF VIEW OR OPINIONS
STATED DO NOT NECESSARILY REPRESENT OFFICIAL NATIONAL INSTITUTE OF
EDUCATION POSITION OR POLICY

With a Bibliography of
ERIC Career Education Literature
Prepared by
Tyrus Wessell
James E. Hedstrom

Information Series No. 4

CE 004 996

ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education 204 Gabel Hall Northern Illinois University DeKalb, Illinois 60115

*ALSO AVAILABLE:

The Continuing Education Unit, by Anne C. Kaplan and Clive C. Veri.

ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education Information Series Number 1,/
CE 001 735.

The Computer and Guidance in the United States: Past, Present and a Possible Future, by JoAnn Harris and David V. Tiedeman. ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education Information Series Number 2, CE 001 936.

Educating for the Integration of Occupational Clusters into Careers.

By Joyce Cook, Dale Stenning and David V. Tiedeman. ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education Information Series Number 3, CE 004 793.

ABOUT THE AUTHORS

Professors Walter Wernick, David V. Tiedeman, James E. Hedstrom, and
Betty J. Bosdell are on the Faculty of Northern Illinois University. Professor
John Eddy is on the Faculty of Loyola University/Chicago. Dr. Tyrus Wessell is
on the Faculty of Grand Valley State Colleges.

The material in this publication was prepared pursuant to a contract with the National Institute of Education, U. S. Department of Health, Education and . Welfare. Contractors undertaking such projects under government sponsorship are encouraged to express freely their judgment in professional and technical matters. Prior to publication, the manuscript was submitted to Professor Larry J. Bailey, Southern Illinois University/Carbondale, Dr. Eugene Bottoms, State Department of Education, Georgia, and Professor Norman C. Gysbers, University of Missouri/Columbia, for critical review and determination of professional competence. This publication has met such standards. Points of view or opinions, however, do not necessarily represent the official view or opinions of either the consultants or the National Institute of Education.

ERIC CLEARINGHOUSE IN CAREER EDUCATION 204 Gabel Hall \
Northern Inlinois University
DeKalb, Illinois 60115

PREFACE

In 1971, Sidney Pr Marland, then U.S. Commissioner of Education, enunciated a magnificent goal for education in America—educate for career.

Marland's national goal immediately fascinated many educators who considered such a re-orientation of American education overdue. The leaven of new but modest Federal, state, and local investments in career education quickly created and sustained high educational interest. In the ensuing intellectual stew about career education—if we may be forgiven using two simultaneous metaphors in hope of cooking a third, a meat pie of understanding—educators kept asking loud and clear, "What is this many splendored thing called career education?"

Since 1971, many pieces on career education have been published in noncommercial sources and collected in ERIC (the Educational Resources Information Center) where they can be seen under conditions of excellent document
control, multiple-coordinate indexing, and microfiche availability. The
National Institute of Education encourages its Clearinghouses to synthesize
ERIC literature from time to time for topics of general professional interest.
The ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education herein applies this general encouragement in attempt to answer the frequently loudspoken educational question, "What is this many splendored thing called career education?"

The syntheses which the National Institute of Education encourages its Clearinghouses to publish are mostly to be in the nature of reviews of what has been announced. However, little sense resides in such an application of this principle in this instance because there is insufficient consensus on the meaning of career education at this juncture in its development. The meaning of career education will not currently emerge like Minerva from the Jupiter's forehead which is the corpus of career education literature in ERIC. We

therefore adopt a different permissible strategy in this information analysis; we in effect propose our own position on gareer education in the body of this analysis. We do so to give educators at least one consistent view of what education for career must be like if it is to remain true to the principle that careers are not given but are revealed in the thought of each of us who is continuously forging one.

Since the body of this analysis constitutes our own position on career education, we must also help each reader question our position. Although we do not explicitly question our position in our analyses, we do include extensive appendixes citing significant ERIC literature on the career education topics which we consider in our analysis. Readers seeking other views, positions, and approaches to career education are strongly encouraged to delve into this herein identified corpus of ERIC literature on career education. The collection contains many extremely valuable documents filled with practical suggestions of how career education can become the process which unites education and the person by capacitating thought in action. Readers unfamiliar with ERIC should refer to Appendix B for instruction in how to take advantage of this public resource.

Particular questions in the career education area should be addressed to User Services, ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education, 204 Gabel, Northern Illinois University, DeKalb, IL 60115.

• Walter Wernick
David V. Tiedeman
John Eddy
Betty J. Bosdell

DeKalb, Illinois Chicago, Illinois 5 September 1975



CONTENTS

PREFACE		Li
CONTENTS		Ĺy
Chapter	1	
1.	CAREER EDUCATION REFOCUSING EDUCATION FOR CAREER DEVELOPMENT	1
•	Career Education Rockets into 200 years of American Education	,
	Career and Its Development	1 3 5 7
2.	BUILDING LIFE ACTIVITIES INTO CAREER EDUCATION PROGRAMS	
-	Using Life Activities that Work	9 1
2	N ₁	3
3.	COMMUNICATING CAREER CONCEPTS WITH PARENTS, GUARDIANS AND COMMUNITY	5.
-	The Career as a Personal, Family, and Community Matter	
4.	PREPARING FOR PERSONAL INTEGRATION IN THE CURRICULUM	
	Recognizing the Strategy as Involvement	,
	Choosing Personal Comprehension over Comprehensiveness	0 .
5.	Seeing Life as the Organizing Center	2
3	A CAREER CENTER	¥
· .	Recognizing the Community Approach	4
^ %	and Continuing Education)



6.	PLANNING AND EVALUATING NEW CAREER EDUCATION PROGRAMS
	PROGRAMS
	Self Evaluation as Core of Career
	Constructionism 33
	Surveying and Career Planning
	Evaluating for the Future
	Using a National Evaluation Center
	Modeling for Career Counseling on Curriculum
	Reorganizing for Career Education
•	Knowing the What, Who, and When of
	Evaluation
•	Testing Limitations
7.	CHALLENGES AND POTENTIALITIES
• •	\.
	Career Education's Challenge to Change
	Resources and Potentialities
\	
REFERENCE	3S
A =	•
Appendix	
\ A.	BIBLIOGRAPHY OF ERIC CAREER EDUCATION
\	LITERATURE (by Tyrus Wessell and
1	James E. Hedstrom) 47
- 1	,
	OVERVIEW
1	
1	The ERIC System
į.	Consolidating the ERIC Files
	on Career Education
	Philosophy
	Programs
	Program Organization, Administration,
1	and Evaluation
1.	Education in Career Education
	CITATIONS
,	1. Philosophy
.	2. Programs
	Elementary School
	Middle/Junior High School
	Secondary School
	Post Secondary, University, and Adult 87
	3. Program Organization, Administration
	and Evaluation 92
	4. Education in Career Education
. <u>B</u> .	A BRIEF INTRODUCTION TO ERIC (by ERIC Clearinghouse
•	on Information Resources)

ERIC Full Text Provided by ERIC

Chapter 1

CAREER EDUCATION--REFOCUSING

EDUCATION FOR CAREER DEVELOPMENT

Career Education Rockets into 200 years of American Education

The American educational establishment has come a long way during this country's first 200 years. Today over 108 billion dollars a year is invested in education, making education the largest single business in this nation with an annual investment of about 8 percent of the gross national product. However, in the midst of this accomplishment the challenges of new factors are forcing educational institutions to change. Some of these include declining birth rates, the decrease of enrollments in some schools and colleges, the increase of community colleges and area vocational schools, the energy crisis, pollution problems, dangers to ecology, the shortage of materials, equalization practices for women and minorities in employment, inflation and corrections to inflation, and other elements. Along with these challenges, career education recently rocketed into this country's challenging educational scene as an all encompassing educational innovation.

Although the term achieved recognition only in 1971, career education has rocketed into educational prominence in the four short years of its existence. For instance, on August 30, 1974, President Gerald Ford solidly put the weight of the U.S. Presidency behind career education by announcing at a commencement address at Ohio State University:

"I do want to pledge one thing to you here and now: I will do everything in my power to bring education and employers together in a new climate of credibility—an atmosphere in which universities turn scholars out and employers turn them on....The Secretaries of Labor and Health, Education and Welfare have been asked to report new ways to bring the world of work and the institutions of education closer together....Skills and intellect must harmonize so that the wheels of industry not only hum but sing. I propose a great new partnership of labor and academia....We need new jobs and new skills..."



g

At the same time President Ford was speaking in this state capital of Ohio, across the city career education was already being promoted at the world's largest state fair. In a booth sponsored by the Ohio Guidance and Personnel Association and others, a poster read: For career opportunities in the real, world of work call toll free 1-800-282-0377 for information and opportunities...

Birth and launching power notwithstanding the great hopes for career education will die unless every educator quickly comprehends and acts upon the essence and subtlety of career education. This primer has been written to promote in all educators such needed understanding of career education. Although the conception of career education is elaborate and life extensive, this primer is concise and short. The educator awakening to career education doesn't need to know its depth, its extensiveness, its wholeness, and its grandness. This primer has been written to familiarize the untutored with the wholeness and individualness that is career education.

The primer is divided into seven short chapters. This first chapter introduces conceptions of career and its development, and then attempts to help you refocus your premises about education so that the conceptions of career and its development can be incorporated. The next five chapters deal with technical matters in career education: incorporating learning while doing into education; sharing education of youths with parents and the community; revising the curriculum to incorporate repeated cycles of career integration, differentiation, and reintegration into it; organizing resources and centers for career development; and planning and evaluating career education programs. The final chapter sounds career education's challenge to change and assesses institutional and personal potentialities for meeting this challenge.

Career and Its Development

As each person lives, the decisions he or she makes about knowing and doing mark a 'bread-crumb' path or career along the halls of time. In this regard, the person's career is like the path of bread crumbs Hansel and Gretel made to mark their passage in the woods; career is the consequence of passage. The life path, or career, can be characterized in the many ways we depict education and activity, and their consequences: by play or leisure activity; by educational courses taken either as preparation for intended work activities or merely for the knowledge which each generates; or by work kinds or activities. The path or career may also be characterized by the person, as he or she marks it in the journey through the halls of time and experiences its consequences, as well as by us. For the person personally marking a career and experiencing its consequences, the career is that person's life purpose or purposes.

Specifying a person's activities sufficiently so that career incorporates work is one of the better understood current purposes of career education. But specifying the presence of the person in his or her activities, particularly his or her work activities, and the development of that comprehension are two of the less well understood needs in career education. These two conditions, therefore, need particular attention.

Quickening and strengthening the person's own presence in his or her career constitutes the most precious as well as the most elusive of career education goals. This goal incorporates a second purpose in education for career, the purpose of personal satisfaction as well as the purpose of societal success. The pleasing life as well as the fruitful life become simultaneous goals in career education.

Reading the person into his or her career is a developmental process, not an instantaneous accomplishment. The person must be taught how to objectify his or her self in the ordinarily subjective experience of the self. The person

must also be encouraged to accept responsibility for doing this during the times of life when his or her future pathway is not fully prescribed and/or determined beforehand. In those periods the person must live the uncertain future of his or her mind products which determine for that future whatever stability expectation can give in encouraging current action.

The enlarging objectification of self in subjective self experiences does not emerge full blown as Minerva from Jupiter's forehead; it must develop. The developmental processes of objectifying the subjective self are in part physical--bodily systems must be sufficiently matured to bear the necessary thought processes. The needed developmental processes are also perceptual -- the brain and the mind must be matured sufficiently to sustain the effective tension of simultaneously treating the self both as object and subject. The needed developmental processes are also cognitive—the mind must be matured sufficiently to think while one is acting so actions can be guided somewhat by individual purposes. The needed developmental processes are psychological--the body, the brain, the mind, and the situation must be sufficiently comprehended to use the physical, perceptual, and cognitive processes involved in self and career constructionism. Finally, the needed developmental processes are educational--the body, the brain, the mind, and the situation must be orchestrated so the subtle and precious personal processes of intuition can occur and be supported in times of personal decision in thought and activity.

All of these reasons point to the most important and least understood process in education, the cyclic process of partial integration, differentiation, and reintegration in perception and cognition. In order for self and career constructionism to develop in conjunction with education, each student's experience must have meaning, personal meaning. This requires that education be planned and delivered so that each new increment of self constructed understanding has harmony with the cycle necessary for mastery and meaning; namely,

partial integration of new to old meanings, differentiation of new meanings from old meanings; and reintegration of new with old meanings. But all procedures in this cycle have to go on simultaneously, deliberately, and progressively. Understanding the need for such conditions, providing them, and making them effective are the challenges for career education—an education for the development of career.

Defining Career Education

Kennett Hoyt, Director, Office of Career Education, U.S. Office of Education, provides a comprehensive definition of career education as "preparation for all meaningful and productive activity, at work or at leisure, whether paid or volunteer, as employee or employer, in private business or in the public sector, or in the family." The authors use this definition as one standard in this volume. However, the authors are aware of the criticism of Gordon Swanson; who claims, "... American views are still an elusive collection of concepts bound together by the rhetoric of advocacy, the power of governmental incentives and the traditions of a unique context." The authors use as a second criterion for defining career education in this volume, the standard of the individual, the unique, the personal in career.

In short, this monograph uses the term "career" as inclusive of all purposeful activity, but specifies "career" as occupational, vocational, or professional on the one hand and personal and self determined on the other. Both aspects are obtained neither instantaneously, nor once and for all; each must be developed integratively.

Because career education is developmental, education for career has been conceived in five interrelated phases: Phase I occurs in the elementary school during grades 1-6 and is concerned with basic self-development and attitudes as it explores questions on what occupations are, who workers are, and how.

workers perform their jobs. Phase II occurs in the junior high school during

grades 7-9, builds upon the awareness stage, and is concerned with prevocational and exploratory experiences in employment. Phase III occurs in the high school using grade 10, continues to provide basic career information, and is concerned with student exploration in more depth in a single occupational cluster and/or beginning specialized training on one cluster area. concept is an organizational idea of offering students skills, knowledge, and attitudes for occupational entry into a family of vocations, such as public service(the cluster), educational service(subcluster or division), and elementary education (element or one cluster area). Phase IV occurs in the senior high school in grades 11-12, or in a post-secondary institution(institute or college), and is concerned with the actual preparation of the student for a position when he or she leaves that institution. For example, the Oregon State Board of Education has adopted new graduation requirements effective with the class of 1978 that mean 'that each student will be able to demonstrate educational accomplishments, besides Carnegie units accumulated, and these accomplishments or skills are for the most part competency-based. Many of them are experienced in out-of-school occupational centers.

Career develops throughout life, not just in childhood, adolescence, and young adulthood. Ideally, therefore, career education is not limited to K-12 nor the college years. Instead, career education is a life-long approach that labels no student as a dropout from formal education; but does recognize that students stopout and dropin within and without educational institutions in repetitions of the initial preparatory cycle. This is Phase V of career education, recycling. It is in keeping with the trend of educational institutions to have flexible entrance and exit requirements. Thus, more persons can have educational and occupational experiences that meet their specific needs for employment as well as for job satisfaction. The ideal educational system allows students to pursue an individualized year-round approach. In other

words, students must be permitted to leave and to reenter school in order to continue their education or improve their job transparent they deem necessary.

If career education is to be successful, certain career-related services need to be available at appropriate stages in a student's development, including: (1) provision of instruction for general and specific career skills; (2) provision of career information along with counseling to cover careers and data on the job market; (3) offering certain financial and psychological aids as needed; (4) providing credentials necessary for job entry as well as for continuing education; and (5) offering placement and follow-through services.

In order to provide for personal integration, career education has to transcend the current categorization of curricula into "vocational," "general," and "college preparatory." These classifications draw artificial separations between instruction and guidance. Career education cuts across the union of a student's thought and activity as both mature in the entire spectrum of elementary, secondary, higher, and continuing education.

Unfortunately, although the ideal can be imagined by professionals and lay people, few schools and institutions of higher and continuing education have developed the needed approach to career education for all of life. It is currently difficult for a person to upgrade skills, to update knowledge, and to return for preparation for a new position throughout his or her life. That is why this primer must change you. Every educator must become a new kind of career educator if career education is to succeed.

Understanding Why Refocusing is Needed

The Forty-Third American Assembly sponsored by Columbia University, "The Changing World of Work," expressed such areas of concern as:

"Despite civil rights legislation and equal employment actions, minorities continue to experience handicaps in both employment and advancement. Young workers are influenced by rising levels of education and expectations. Women's lib is pressing for equal



8

employment. Growing demands for early retirement reveal disenchantment. Turnovers, absenteeism, grievances, union unrest, and strikes all reflect varying degrees of job dissatisfaction. How can these problems be reduced by the introduction of change in the nature of work and working relationships?....

We are witnessing changes in personal values that are seen and felt not only in the United States but around the world. In part, we are experiencing the latest chapter in the continuing story of the quest for fulfilling American goals and aspirations: a fair and equitable society; an opportunity for each citizen to participate in the forces that affect his life; a confirmation that the democratic process, does, indeed, work for all. Now that challenge is emerging at the most basic level of work itself...Our view is pragmatic: improving the place, the organization, and the nature of work can lead to better work performance and a better quality of life in the society. A crisis, though it may not presently exist, could confront us if business, labor, educational institutions, community leadership, and government fail to respond...

The challenge to our age is to develop a more nonviolent technology that

does not tend to destroy a person's mental health. If this society could put
a person on the moon by systems approaches to science, then, we can also put
our priorities into human values to humanize our world of work--and-our schools.

Career education emphasizes priorities in personally achieved and appreciated responsibility for human action. The priority of career education is to equip each person to guide his or her destiny by attending to individual career development through cyclic stages of career awareness, orientation, exploration, and specification all through life. By refocusing educational systems and society, with these concerns of career education, the fruits of a more meaningful life would continue to evolve for all persons on this planet.

Chapter 2

BUILDING LIFE ACTIVITIES INTO.

CAREER EDUCATION PROGRAMS

Chapter 1 has indicated that a refocusing is under way in education. As of June 1974, one-third of our nation's school districts implemented some kind of activity in the area of career education. Some districts attempted to use the idea of career education as cement to bond the schooling establishment closer to the world of work. Others perceived the "new" idea as liberating schools from being prisons of time and space.

Can movement in many different directions at once be the proper course for American Education and how are we to judge which ways are the best? How are we to move the other two-thirds of the nation's school districts to put career education into their educational programs? How are we to move career education into higher and continuing education?

One answer is to use career development as the lens through which we view the many kaleidoscopic elements of the career education movement. If elements in a particular school district don't appear to be coming together to form one piece, then we can say more work upon focusing is needed—or we might more dramatically suggest that the element in question does not legitimately belong in this field of endeavor. Dare we take something away from the school? We can if our mind's eye deems the element unrelated to the learning environment we're trying to form.

Choosing Career Development Elements

Theorists agree that the new wave of career development thinking represents a synthesis. In fact, one authority believes that career development, in the infancy of its use in career education, is a more helpful reservoir for potential themes than has so far been realized in career education.



(Dr. Edwin Herr, address to the Second Annual Career Education Conference, July 16, 1974, Northern Illinois University, Dekalb, Illinois).

Elements formerly associated with self-concept, career development, and decision-making processes must now be used instrumentally for planned intervention in career education. In deciding that career development is a function of learned responses and that outcomes are modifiable, we are committed to managing with the person factors which determine his or her future. Naturally, we believe that this work will result in a "better" future for all of us as well as for the individual concerned, particularly if the individual is aware of what we are doing with him or her.

Psychological factors which influence career development include: (1) one's own continually shaping views of life; (2) clarity in one's self-concept; (3) one's own aspiration level; and (4) how one deals with tasks at the several stages of one's development. Some models of career maturity attend to these factors by securing responses related to a person's consistency of career choice; a person's competencies regarding problem-solving, planning, self-appraisal, and goal selection; and a person's attitudes toward involvement and independence. Most model highlight decision-making as the center of psychological career development processes thus opting for the principle that each person is in potential the architect of her or his future.

Sociological or environmental factors are not overlooked. They are considered, but there is a strong vein of thinking that the psychological factors, if understood and used wisely by the person, can supplement and, if necessary, overcome the others—individuals can use knowledge about their own race, sex, economic background, reward structure, and other environmental variables to their own advantage. Personal motivation and skill can move one along a career development path of one's choice even though an interplay of powerful environmental forces might suggest other paces or other paths.

Thus, some approaches to career education will stress coping, creating, and developing one's own lifeline in time, while others will arrange proper places for individuals so they may help people adjust to the changing environment. These twin themes are with us and need to be kept with us. Both are necessary, but they should not be antagonists because there is a way to bring these ideas together.

Using Life Activities That Work

We know that schools can arrange activities that help students learn information about occupations and the world of work. We know that we can provide opportunities for students to explore adult activities and clarify their values about their experiences. We know that we can range into the future with our expressions of what we can imagine, and then we can determine for ourselves whether we like what our imagination brought forth to us. We know that we can do wonders with the human mind, building expectations, relating hopes to realistic settings, and inspiring individual lives to habitualize love and creativity.

But rarely are any of the above done without direct sensory contact with people and things. Teachers try to be models of positive human behavior, but their role as managers of learning environments conveys to youth limited images of what adults are doing with their lives. The teacher may use his own person, he may in fact be an immanent model, but his larger effectiveness is in bringing life models from the contemporary community to the attention of his students.

Students need to study people by being with people. They need to meet hopes and experiences, interests and abilities, backgrounds and futures, in credible settings, in authentic meeting places whenever possible. First-class learning can not be derived easily from second-hand knowledge. People have to be the target and vehicles of plans, not just tangents to lessons which are pulling students away from who they are or might be.



Therefore, learning how to obtain information from people has to be regarded as a basic skill. Learning about affective and cognitive behavior means that face-to-face communication has to be a high priority career development goal. To accomplish this some teachers have found interviewing techniques especially helpful. Questions about people's lives can be brought into focus for learners from different ages and backgrounds, and of varying abilities and interests. The involvement is purposeful and full of sensory nuances. The activity is also generative in that all ages can benefit from learning by interviewing in school and out-of-school. It fits well within the scholar's realm of inquiry and his accessibility of resources.

Another needed skill is value clarification. If learners are to assess elements of their investigations with the point of view that they are organizing their own energies, that they are developing increased power to affect their own future, then a positive approach to understanding how they decide and feel is necessary. Value clarification during times of decision not puly helps us to empathize with and understand others, it helps us perceive our own personal resources and our time as being accessible for our own use. We do change, and we are different from one another in many ways, but if we can utilize our own wellspring of personal motivations, we are a much stronger individual, ready to act and react as necessary.

Finally, the career development skill--decision-making! Once we can obtain knowledge and know how to clarify we have the abilities needed to develop options. Now we must learn to invent and consider alternative courses and their consequences. Now we must originate or respond to an action with one of our own. This is so because in the dimension of thinking about choice-making in decision-making even a non-action becomes a response; a missed chance is never again available. Decision-making is the most pervasive skill, once we decide that we are thinking in that dimension. Everything counts, everything we



do or do not do can be considered as falling within the realm of decision-making; there is no escape from our capacity to decide. The only question remains whether schools do so capacitate women and men or not.

In an age when we are burdened by information overload the skill of decision-making assumes increased importance to our mental health as well as to our roles as citizens and workers. Without decision-making skills we can be fact-rich, muddled in our values, and unable to move ourselves to commitment. All of us have experienced this situation to some extent, and it appears that our changing world will compound the problem even more fiercely in the near future.

Career development programs may help people to move through cycles of initial indecision and later commitment more often by helping them be facile in their thinking processes; but, we must insist that these same programs help us to accept ourselves as worthwhile human beings even when we are not deciding, even when we know we are uncommitted. Some of us hold dear the freedom to do or not do anything we want until the need is urgent as perceived by ourselves. Striving for a Democratic Ethic

The ethic underlying career development is that we are both privileged and obligated to do something with our lives. We should act for ourselves and we also should act for the betterment of others. In a sense, decision-making can be regarded as an expression of our freedom—and our responsibilities. Some may only see the products of our career education programs as willing workers for the common good while others may see products of our efforts as independent, choosing individuals, people coping with change to actualize their personal selfdoms.

We don't want to return to an aristocracy of wealth or one of birth, or race, or sex, but, in the name of career development, we may be in danger of building an aristocracy based upon the intellect. Through programs of career



development, those who actively seek to influence their own futures will be achieving the rewards of our schooling establishment. They will be favored, while those who accept their environmental offerings without actively enlarging their own personal energy systems may lose respect in the eyes of the school authorities. Hence once we embark on career development through education we must help it become a goal for all, not just for an elite.

Our hypothesis is that our economic and social systems will welcome graduates of career education programs and will help them continue their career development as inquiring, clarifying, decision-making individuals throughout their lives. The amazing thing about the entire career education movement is that people in business, labor, government, and education actually believe that all this may come true. If it does the American revolution will have transformed more than the political facet of humanity. It will at last have settled into the essential core of our self-image as human beings.

Will we have life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness in our schools, homes, factories, and marketplaces? Career education has taken the means and the goals and forced us to face the work of our schools without filters of history or authority. Career development is a newly refined lens. Through it, we can no longer see ourselves as being isolated from the life force. We are the life force—and it is us. Career education is for all of life—the life of each of us.

Chapter 3

COMMUNICATING GAREER CONCEPTS WITH PARENTS,

The Career as a Personal, Family, and Community Matter

Career education, as a philosophy and as a practice, requires that parents be increasingly involved in their children's work as well as in the work of their children's schools, colleges, and communities. Educators can take advantage of this opportunity in many ways. We can strengthen existing programs of parental involvement and advisory committees as well as building new bridges for communication and cooperation.

Few educators are taking advantage of an opportunity that exists by teaching parents to participate in the career education of their children. Educators can help parents communicate with their children about their children's futures. Parants and guardians can be helped to use resources such as the home, vehicles, neighborhood shopping trips, family outings, and vacations as sources which offer numerous opportunities to acquaint and influence children about career possibilities. Educators could utilize traditional school events like "open houses" and "Parent-Teacher Association meetings" for special short minisessions on how to use the time parents or guardians have with their children for learning about careers, available options, and changes in the world of work. Some illustrations of ways that parents or guardians could use available ' things in the home include teaching the children how to use woodworking tools, gardening and lawn equipment, and repair tools for home vehicle-fixing projects. Again, how to better use television and radio programs, periodicals, library books, and home reading materials for career awareness. Outside the home, parents and guardians can use both ordinary trips with their children to bette

career education advantage. For example, visits to stores, museums, libraries, factories, shops, businesses, schools, colleges, and churches could have a greater impact on children if parents or guardians were aided in ways to make these experiences more meaningful. Helping parents to know what to look for and how to express the meaning of a social event is something that can make or break a good educational experience.

Special short courses on career education might also be offered to parents through the evening schools, colleges, religious groups, civic clubs, libraries, or other institutions of a particular area in cooperation with a local district or consortium of school districts. A "career education consortium of school districts" might coordinate such a region-wide program.

Children meet a wide variety of adults in and out of school. When a child shows interest in a particular vocation that is presently closed to men or women by de facto or other types of discrimination, parents should indicate to their children that by the time they reach adulthood this occupation will probably be open to them. Increasingly new laws prohibit discrimination in employment on the basis of sex. For example, the Federal Congress has decreed that ethnic and sex discrimination cannot be allowed to persist where federal funds are involved. The enforcement of these laws is improving so that more jobs are open, especially to minority groups and women, than ever before in. American history. This trend will continue to increase in the future.

Parents would be helped in courses that could aid them in avoiding sexrole stereotyping that might inhibit their children from going into some occupational fields and/or positions. Since most of the books and other literature
for children are loaded with sexist approaches, parents should be made aware of
how to deal with problems like sexist literature which their children will
encounter. A new world lies within each child's imagination, but parents and
other significant adults will have to awaken interest and challenge each

developing person to put forth individual energies to make the person's dreams come true.

Discussions of working for one's self and the challenges and risks of such an enterprise might help children widen their understandings of why people act the way they do in some situations, and might develop latent ideas for later use in one's lifetime. Many ideas do not have to be immediately applicable to be remembered. What is important is both an open relationship with a person who is to be trusted and content that makes the experience relevant and significant at that time.

Opening Doors for Career Education

There are many other valuable means that can be used with parents, guardians, and community members, namely

- 1. Using available aids such as the National Education Association's Program to promote communication with parents;
- Using approaches that stress open communication between school officials and parents;
- 3. Using regular progress reports and demonstrations of student work at Parent Association meetings to tell what has been accomplished;
- 4. Using open houses to view what students and staff are doing in career education;
- 5. Using community adults as resource persons to tell their own career stories in classrooms;
- 6. Using career advisory committees for developing out-of-class student experiences especially on the high school and college level;
 - 7. Using workplaces as educational laboratories for students; and
- 8. Using this monograph as a study guide for career education sessions with parents to expand their consciousness and their concerns.



In the past parental involvement and a community resource utilization system has not been considered the heart of curricular undertakings. But need for emphasis upon the developing person, his or her past, present, and future, moves career educators to new perceptions of what the schools can do-together with other resources of the community. The new communication, involvement, and use of primary sources must not be for the public relations purposes of selling still "new" innovation; rather this new refocusing of people, places, and things must come about because of a concern for basics. We need each other. We must learn from each other as our children learn from all of us. Family and community and schools, not just the school, are the cauldrons in which the character of career is forged.

Chapter 4

PREPARING FOR PERSONAL INTEGRATION

IN THE CURRICULUM

Most of the elements of a career education program are already within a good educational system. Some needed elements may not be fully energized, some may require additional resources, and some may require a redirection of leadership, but activities in this area are not entirely new to teachers, counselors, or administrators. Career education can be perceived as emerging from present instructional efforts. If this posture is taken, career education can be turned into a centripetal force, acting to get maximum productivity from many disparate elements of our educational environments.

Recognizing the Strategy as Involvement

The search for a "new curriculum" through the "curriculum committee writing team" approach seems not only inappropriate but is actually a hard way of getting career education going and later accepted. Our educational community has moved beyond the accumulation and examination of lists of organized abstractions.

Today's educator is a sober professional, realizing that reallocations of time and adjustment of subject matter mean work—and work means changing habits, learning new skills, relating to new people, and planning. For most teachers, the actual performance of teaching—being with kids—is the most enjoyable part of teaching; writing curriculum guides, especially the writing of behavioral objectives, is a chore.

If teachers are to believe their curriculum development work will be of direct benefit to them, a curriculum guide has to grow from the best teaching which teachers have done; include imaginative ideas which teachers have thought through but were not able to try; and result in practical, teachable activities. From the very beginning, teachers must be involved in the

development of a locally based career education curriculum. The local educational leader should be sure his system's orchestrations are based upon the theme that "our teachers will be our best career education curriculum."

Refocusing the curriculum with teaching in mind, plans for differentiation and integration can be prepared which build upon teachers' experiences, teachers' judgments, teaching styles, teachers' work environments, accessible resources, local needs, and the interests and abilities of real children. Curriculum work can be treated as planning for teaching, as supporting ongoing instructional activities, as something that will give more job satisfaction in the teacher's work place, and as something that will be personally meaningful and rewarding to the individual teacher.

A school system can search for sparkle and have it shared, but that approach has to be deliberately planned. If it isn't, teachers may be afraid to contribute openly with their own ideas because tradition suggests a "master curriculum guide" they re supposed to follow. Without firm leadership, security-conscious staff might use their talents in searching for the "other" when their own experiences and imaginations could be working to kindle many excellent ideas.

Choosing Personal Comprehension Over Comprehensiveness

Two things have accompanied most career education projects: a curriculum guide and the "halo effect." Guides and lists available through state agencies and publishing houses have a breathtaking range and depth. The idea of career education, and the money which went with the funding of projects since 1971, has moved many curricularists to new realms of comprehensiveness. As school, home, marketplace, and the community, resources have been examined, "scope and sequence" charts were mapped, graded, and refined by curriculum experts.

(See-subsection, 2 and 3 in Appendix A.)

A comprehensive treatment sounds impressive, but this approach does not necessarily result in personal development through comprehension of what has been done to and/or with one. In fact, a common danger of "covering the curriculum" is that content can be stretched so much to fit the K-12 frame that personal accountability for substantive quality at specific points along the way becomes almost impossible.

Career development is a sterling, but complex idea, and many of its elements have roots in the affective domain. In attempting to be comprehensive regarding the developmental learning of affective elements, many guides list "awareness of--" where one would normally look for readiness levels. Practicing teachers are not helped by such ambiguous terms. As managers of learning environments, they want references to behavior they can manage. Teachers know their actions always deal with specific events in time and they want their guidelines to be specific, too. Unfortunately, several heavily funded, comprehensive career education "plans" remain underutilized today because builders of these theory-based knowledge systems were covering the entire field rather than energizing creative educational workers, particularly students, within specific learning environment arenas.

The strategy of personal integration during times of successive differentiation may not leady to expansively drawn charts and volumes of sequenced, developmental objectives, but integrating ideas bring content together to make activities more meaningful. Those who make their living by depending upon the competencies of their professional staff are advised to consider their basic strategic approach to curriculum planning. The process of developing a career education curriculum should focus staff energies upon the bull's eye of personal integration—integration by youths through integrated understanding by their teachers.



Seeing Life as the Organizing Center

With personal integration during times of differentiation taken as the primary strategic approach, a staff development program can elicit ideas and experiences from individual teachers. Questions about basic skills, grouping, evaluation procedures, the use of texts, parental involvement, administrative support, and other concerns will emerge. From this base of personally meaningful information, strands of thinking can be woven together for the initiation of a career education program geared to local needs.

This is not only good strategy; it is mandatory if career education goals are to be met. Unlike subject-centered curriculum innovations, career development ideas always begin with people and what they are doing to and making of their lives. A staff development program can draw upon the staff's own resources and those of the community to find out how individual people's careers have been developed, how events turned people's careers, and how values, abilities background, and decision-making skills were utilized to create opportunities for realization of their human potentialities.

The difference between an "occupational information-vocational skills"

program and a career education program becomes clearer as ideas become focused around the activities of people. The more an educational worker focuses upon -- living-upon what people do with their lives-the more the curriculum will become relevant to its participants.

Learners need direct contact with adults. A person's life can be the organizing idea to integrate the many needed learnings of the school; that is, lives can be utilized this way if the teacher's mind's eye sees life as an integrating factor.

Teachers can begin with textbook-centered units or their own past performances. They can use someone else's outlines or their own flow charts. They can plan for individualization, small group work, or whole group activities.



The technology of the teacher should be left open. The alive person, as the substance of the activity, is the integrating factor.

Since career dimensions include preparation periods, turning points, and expectations, lives are rich with personal meanings. The integration of real life events into the instructional program has to be thought of as necessary and vital—not as an add—on to motivate sluggish learners. At every level, the study of <u>lives in action</u> is worthwhile for its own sake. Therefore, planning to provide direct sensory experiences with active adults is a basic part of the differentiational, integrational process. (The concept of utilizing the "person—in—the—occupation" within the "organizing center" of planning for career development is a contribution of <u>ABLE Model Program</u>, funded by the Division of Vocational and Technical Education, State of Illinois, 1970—1973.)

It matters little whether plans grow from an academic base, from the activities of a local resource person, from the interest of a student, or from an idle idea bantered about in the faculty lounge. What does matter profoundly is that our students participate wholly in the study of credible people. Learning about pareer development by direct experience with primary sources is effective. Teachers who integrate their lessons in school with relevant resources outside of the schooling institution are working fully within the time-honored scholar's tradition.

Chapter 5

UTILIZING CAREER RESOURCES AND

ARRANGING A CAREER CENTER

The abundance of materials (periodical articles, pamphlets, monographs, books, cassette tapes, video tapes, films, filmstrips, speakers, simulation games, and other kinds of work activity projects) in career education is overwhelming. A crucial problem is to set up relevant criteria and to select valuable resources useful to different age levels and interest areas. This problem has been recognized by the Federal government which has funded four projects to help in this process. These products should be available from the National Institute of Education, Education and Work Program in early 1976.)

Recognizing the Community Approach.

The most effective way to find worthwhile resources for career education is to use the community approach. A fundamental concept of installation strategies is to involve people so they will assume the responsibility for program continuation and growth. Members of the community must be involved from the beginning. Those responsible for, involved with, and affected by the program must be involved in the planning, implementation, and evaluation of career education.

Analyzing Community Needs

An analysis of the local educational system should follow the involving and orienting of the community to the concept of cafeer education. Ernest Jaski states:

"In analyzing the educational system, data can be collected regarding how well the system is meeting the needs of the community. Parents, employers, workers, former students and present students can be surveyed to determine the extent to which the curriculum is meeting their needs. An analysis of employment can be made. Evidence regarding the needs of the persons in the community can be collected and analyzed in regard to the implications for career education."



This analysis of community need, followed by community acceptance and participation has been typical of career education programs throughout the country. A few examples of such involvement at various educational levels will be given in text. More exhaustive illustrations can be found in the appendix.

Reviewing Elementary School Education

The elementary school has traditionally involved some segments of the community through the visit to the local fire station, hospital, and other local businesses and industries. In the past this may have been part of an instructional unit or may have been a "field trip" remotely related to the every day happenings in the classroom. With the increased attention being given to career education this procedure has been integrated into the total career education program. The following examples of career education activities in local schools is a sampling of what is occurring and what could be occurring.

In Socorro, New Mexico Public Schools from 1970 to 1973 selected groups of fourth, fifth, and sixth grade students in this federally-sponsored project used the Denoyer-Geppert film series on the "Wonderful World of Work" and the Science Research Associates' booklet, "What Could I Be?" This basic program was supplemented by class trips, speakers, projects, bulletin boards, scrapbooks, and other activities designed to develop awareness of career opportunities and the need for career preparation. To determine if career education made a difference, this particular project compared students who were in the experimental (career education) classes with students who were in the control group (no planned career education program). All students were pretested and posttested with a modified version of the Vocational Development Inventory (VDI). The statistical results showed significant increased vocational awareness was accomplished in all classes.

In Evanston, Illinois in 1974, an accounts receivable management firm volunteered their time in a computer survey with a fifth grade class at Lincolnwood Public Elementary School. This project made these children aware of the possibilities of business machines in career education and is illustrative of business-education cooperation.

A typical approach to utilizing community members which has proven to be quite effective is that of local talent pools. Schools in Bowling Green, Kentucky and Peoria, Illinois among others have established volunteer speakers bureaus and/or a volunteer resource file. These provide employees and employers alike opportunities to speak of their respective jobs in the schools. The volunteer speakers bureau is made up of persons living in the school area, and many of them are parents of children attending the district's schools. The teacher requests a speaker from his or her local school office, and the career education coordinator handles the arrangements.

"Interview a Worker" is a career awareness project of the Disney Magnet Elementary School, an inner city Chicago school. The purpose of the program is for the children to interview various people in different occupations at the school. Each interview is taped and played back to be used once more in course mini-units. Thornton, Illinois also developed a Vocational Information Project program utilizing people from the community whose work was the focus of stories in their basal readers.

These examples of elementary school career education approaches are just a few of those which are available. A more complete listing of projects can be found in Appendix A.2 (Elementary School.)

Reviewing Secondary School Career Education

Secondary schools have been active in preparing some students for the world of work through their cooperative, distributive, and occupational

education programs. These programs traditionally were oriented toward the skilled trades. But a variety of career programs can be found at present in alternative type schools and in middle and secondary schools. The following is a sampling of programs utilizing different career education approaches.

One of our major concerns in career education has been the need for the equalization of career opportunities in the inner city for ethnic minorities. In Chicago, there is a "Young Adult Bicultural-Bilingual Learning Center" that develops skills for medical paraprofessionals by positioning the "Creative Education Center" within a community medical clinic. In addition, students are offered bicultural-bilingual instruction in communication skills in standard English, Spanish American culture and cultural identity, mainstream American culture, mathematics for new opportunities, and adult citizen-community responsibilities.

"See a Worker Demonstrate His or Her Job" is a career education program at New Carver High School in Chicago. Machinery, equipment, furniture, and other materials are brought in to actualize working conditions. A simulation exercise of the person's on-the-job performance is seen and discussed by a group of students.

Another example that illustrates career education in action combines the Rochester Public High Schools, Eastman Kodak Company, and the city of Rochester. The program called Rochester Jobs, Inc. (RJI) is a nonprofit corporation started in the spring of 1969. This program provides for high school dropouts, helping them to return to school while it eases the Rochester housing shortage. Youth learn construction crafts as they earn money rehabilitating substandard dwellings.

The arrangement with Rochester Jobs, Inc. changes the traditional incentive for learning. City school districts are drawn in as contractors to work with R.J.I. and a broad coalition of community organizations. For example, the



Metropolitan Rochester Foundation obtains houses to be refurbished, and the member banks of the Rochester Clearinghouse Association handle the Federal Housing Administration guaranteed mortgages when the homes are sold. Ninety business vendors who supply housing materials also provide free how-to-do-it lectures for students, Labor unions assign technical advisers to the program. The Rochester Council of Social Agencies gives home buyers aid with the financial paperwork. After the program had been underway, the U. S. Department of Labor awarded a million dollar grant to support this program for dropout high school youths and for two additional programs—one for younger children and one for boys and girls. One example of the success of these programs is the turning of a \$4,000 slum hovel into a \$12,350 home. But more importantly a student success rate has been achieved in which practically no one who was working on these projects dropped out of school.

Critics who limit their perceptions of career education to "vocational education in new clothes" should visit Chesterfield, South Carolina where the eleventh-grade students can enroll in an interdisciplinary curriculum. Mathematics, language arts, and physics are combined. Dealing with the principles of electricity in physics, students learn how to use electrical hand tools, how to wire circuits, and how to demonstrate their understanding of the scientific principle in Ohm's Law. Their reports are evaluated on language—grammer, spelling, and expression—as they understand circuit boards, transistors, capacitors, and resistors from the field of electronics in physics. Academic instruction is an integral part of their career education program.

The Pennsylvania Department of Education, Bureau of Vocational, Technical and Continuing Education Research Coordinating Unit, Harrisburg, Pennsylvania has also done extensive work in the area of career resource centers. Some of

their work is summarized in their materials:

- 1. <u>Career-Development Goals</u>, an eight-page list of goals for self, education, career, decision-making, economics, and leisure along with behavioral objectives and activities covering a K-12 career development education model treating vocabulary, knowledge, attitudes, and skills.
- 2. <u>Guidelines for Establishing Career Resource Centers</u>, A 72-page monograph that covers purpose, objectives, definitions, procedures, administration, evaluation, resources, and budget;
- 3. The PENNscript Index, the Pennsylvania translation of the San Diego
 VIEW (Vocational Information and Education for Work) concept, which provides a more detailed picture of the specific abilities, interests, and physical attributes needed for the job a person may be interested in;
- school-Based Job Placement Service Model, a 50-page handbook for school administrators and counselors as well, as state employment personnel to set up an effective job placement service for students; and
 - 5. Evaluation of Selected Career Resource Centers in Pennsylvania, a
 38-page report that covers an evaluation of pilot career resource centers in
 five secondary schools in Pennsylvania.

The programs which have been described in Illinois, New York, South Carolina and Pennsylvania are just a few of those that are currently in operation. For a listing of other projects see the Appendix A.2 (Middle/Junior High School and Secondary School).

Reviewing Career Education in Higher and Continuing Education

Career education needs to continue throughout the lifetime of a person.

For example, William Rainey Harper Community College at Palatine, Illinois, has a Continuing Education Program for women. Each student receives a volume of Applied Potential's Career Directory and Gerald Self's article, "Women on the

Move," a test of values, and an assignment to work on a personal assessment chart. Educational resource material includes information about study programs that are linked to specific fields with a good employment outlook. The course also is concerned with problems women face in job seeking, tips on job-hunting techniques, help in preparing a resume, and common psychological problems.

Titles of some of the seminars and workshops being offered throughout the country to adults through career programs in post secondary are: (1) Assertiveness Training for Women; (2) Orientation to Career Planning; (3) Job Search Workshop; (4) Concerns of Contemporary Women; (5) Women and Work; (6) Resuming Your Education; (7) Senior Citizens as Active Participants in Contemporary Life; (8) Athletics and Life Planning for Women; (9) Challenge and Choice for Today's Woman; (10) Where Do I Start?; (11) How Do I know Myself?; (12) Is More Education the Answer?; and (13) What Do I Need to Know About Jobs? For additional references to career education programs in higher and continuing education see Appendix A.2 (Post Secondary, University, and Adult),

Accepting Ready Access Career Counseling

As has been discussed in the first part of this chapter, career education has been made available to persons in the educational setting from elementary school through higher and continuing education. A slightly different approach to providing career education information and materials to the larger community has begun. \ This could be classified as a portion of continuing education or the out-reach, mission of the schools.

An example of a ready access career counseling program is the "Career Education Project, "a federally funded model program in the greater Providence area of Rhode Island. The program utilizes a free telephone counseling service to assist young people out of school who are unsure of their future plans and women at home who may be considering career training. Some of the functions

performed, as an illustration of a model program, are helping persons analyze their own interests and abilities; assisting persons to view the world of work realistically; offering information concerning expanding career opportunities of the future and current resources for part-time training to prepare for these fields; helping persons to prepare effectively for future professions or occupations and helping them to acquire the skills necessary to improve their job options. A resource center has been developed concerning local educational and training programs and supportive services for adults, including information concerning child care facilities, financial aid possibilities, and testing agencies. Moreover, a large collection of data relating to career development and preparation from national sources is available. All of these resources are available to the public in the Resource Center from nine to five on weekdays.

The following items and information sources are listed in the Providence
Area Resource Center:

- 1. Periodicals and newsletters in such fields as adult education, counseling, vocational guidance, manpower, and evaluation.
- 2. Employment projections that provide government prospects in major occupations and professions.
- 3. A current catalogue collection for many education and training institutes.
- 4. A collection of pamphlets, magazine articles, newspaper clippings, and other short items on subjects such as independent study, equal employment and women's roles.
- 5. Searches of topics relating to career education gathered from the ERIC (Educational Resources Information Center).
- 6. Special career packages on part-time programs for career preparation programs, financial aid, child care, testing services, placement agencies, and côunseling services.



Using a National Career Education Resource Center

The ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education is located at Northern Illinois—University, College of Education, DeKalb, Illinois 60115 (telephone: 815—753-1251), and its purpose is to facilitate exchanges of information that both have an impact on educational practice and provide information to the general public. (See Appendix A for some of the available materials.) This Clearing—house is primarily concerned with relevant documents in the following core areas:

- 1. Purposes and theories: philosophy; learning; personality, social, and occupational and career psychology; occupational, career, and educational sociology; manpower economics; systems theory; and change processes.
- 2. Career and human development through the retirement period: attitudes; self-knowledge; decision-making skills; general and occupational knowledge; and specific vocational and occupational skills.
- 3. Life roles: occupational; organizational; consumer; family; leisure; and citizen.
- 4. Informal and formal education practice: vocational exploration; career, vocational-technical, and adult and continuing education; manpower training; career guidance and counseling.
- 5. Educational policy: local; state; national; and international. (In the latter case, input is limited to documents in the English language.)

The viewpoint of the ERIC/CICE is "that career is a life-long issue, an evolving combination of deliberate personal intention and societally afforded opportunity for personal development. ... The human career progresses with personal growth, with the evolvement of personal understanding, with the attainment of personal appreciation for the loneliness of individuality in the grandness of human and environmental interdependence, and with the evolution of a satisfying vocational identity within an ever-enlarging personal identity."

Chapter 6

PLANNING AND EVALUATING NEW CAREER PROGRAMS

Self Evaluation as Core of Career Constructionism

This monograph presents the view that centering the construction of his or her career into the person is the most essential purpose in education for career development. The process of evaluation is key to the self-centering of career constructions. The very centrality of evaluation in self-centering means that the evaluation of effective career development education must be done in a special way—in collaboration with students—not unilaterally by parents or educators.

The need for student collaboration in the evaluation of career development education puts a special strain on parents' and educators' convictions about career constructionism. Can people really be objective if they engage in an evaluation of something of which they are a part? Probably people can never really fully free themselves from self deception in the evaluation of something of which they are a part. However, the very nature of democracy and of career constructionism demands that schools make every effort to see that the capacity for objectifying the self from the subjective self is cultivated and matured: Student collaboration in the evaluation of their own career constructionism is logical and necessary for this effect to be cultivated and matured.

Although student collaboration in the evaluation of their career constructionism has to be the sine qua non in the evaluation of career development education, the partnership of students in the evaluation cannot relieve us educators of responsibility for initiative in the evaluative process. Each



person needs to remain responsible for initiative in collaborative action. The need in exercising initiative in collaboration is to obligate yourself to see that other relevant parties maintain active responsibility for evaluating and criticizing your judgments as you go along. Above all, others in collaboration should never be relieved of either right or responsibility to judge and accept or reject what is being proposed as a need.

With those cautions in mind, let's review the extensive span of information and resources which students must be helped to comprehend and use in growing in their capacity to be self-evaluative in their career constructionism.

Surveying and Career Planning

The Conference Board of New York provides a revealing profile of U. S. employment in the past 25 years. Since 1948, the percentage of white-collar workers has risen from 43 to 48 percent, whereas the proportion of workers in blue-collar jobs dropped from 37 to 35 percent. Youth have risen from 21 percent of the labor force in 1948 to 25 percent in 1973. Government jobs have also increased from employing 13 percent of the work force in 1948 to 18 percent in 1973. Information from such studies must be utilized in developing and evaluating career education programs. What do such trends mean for my career constructionism as a student?

Evaluating for the Future

Career education programs are future-oriented, and longitudinal studies are needed for many sample groups within our student populations. Biographical histories will be required to discover significant influences upon a person's forming, and subsequently acting upon his or her turning points. National norms are meaningless when we are after self-referential information. We, therefore, need many portraits of students in their life-time-space before we should attempt any standardization of curricular offerings. Those who have tried to work on life

histories know that this holograph of personality cannot be manufactured merely through anecdotal records, or obtained from checked answers to questions on a form.

Our search must be for the options available to each person and their relationships to that person and her or his society—and we are expected to delve within the intimate indwellings of each individual to help him or her discover his or her potential within the constitutional rights to privacy for each citizen. If we are to move within this arena, our movement will have to occur with courage and with consummate grace. How we proceed with our evaluative efforts will determine relevance for students, further community support, funding, and the motivations of our citizens.

Using a National Evaluation Center

The National Institute of Education's (NIE) Education and Work Program is currently the federal focal point for basic research and development in education. In 1974, this Program used selected categories in evaluating the activities of some of their programs. They were: (1) student cognitive skills in basic areas; (2) student career awareness knowledge; (3) student affective/interpersonal/self-management skills that relate to self-confidence, ability to communicate with adults, and accepting responsibility for one's actions; (4) student attitudes toward school; (5) student dropout rate; (6) parent's attitude toward program; (7) employer's/community resource person's attitudes toward program; and (8) student graduate's success in employment and/or related activities as continuity education. Categories such as these will have to become part of a system of pollaborative evaluation in career development education.

Modeling for Career Counseling on Curriculum

As we focus on appropriate career development concepts in collaborative evaluation, we will need systems models which speak of the interrelationships of concepts. One helpful systems model for career development evaluation might be an adaptation of the college student development model such as that used at Henderson State College. The model is pyramidal in design and composed of nine levels with each level building on the previous level. This consists of:

Level 1 (bottom of pyramid) -- orientation and awareness;

Level 2--assessment of self;

Level 3--occupational and career objectives;

Level 4--setting of career-objectives;

Level 5--work experiences;

Level 6--career contacts;

Level 7--preparation for world of work;

Level 8--placement, and

Level 9 (top of pyramid) -- recycling.

This model could be used not only in colleges, but it also could be applied in other settings from community social agencies to different educational levels as well. Any person can enter the process at his or her present level of awareness so a systems approach is utilized to implement its operation.

Reorganizing for Career Education Recommendations

Surveys, concepts, and models generate data which will collaboratively have to be implemented in the reorganization of educational institutions.

The failure of some educational personnel to do significant career development planning in the schools is documented in a 1973 survey supervised

by Hilda Jones and titled, "The Effects of Pre-College Counseling on the Educational and Career Aspirations of Blacks and Women enrolled at the University of Pittsburgh." In this study, it was discovered that career choices were chiefly a result of students' personal values and interests. Secondary factors were socioeconomic status and parental encouragement. Minor elements were friends, teachers, experiences, and counselors. Since the prime job of many counselors was student scheduling or academic advising, career advising was neglected in many schools to the detriment of students.

The recommendations for educational reorganization that grew out of this study were:

- 1. Graduate or undergraduate guidance counseling programs should provide career information and counseling that have a non-sexist and non-racist approach.
- 2. Career development programs should begin in the elementary grades and continue throughout post-secondary education and life to prepare students for occupational fields of their choice.
- 3. Educational personnel should, through equitable treatment of career development, encourage various ways, formal and informal, for women and minority group members to consider non-traditional occupations for their sex or race.
- 4. The emphasis of career choice based on the individual's value system associated with the student's interests and aptitudes should be reinforced through career activities by educational personnel (counselors, administrators, teachers, and resource persons).
- 5. Illustrated career brochures and other materials are needed that show women and minority groups participating in challenging professions so that better vocational images are seen by students.
- 6. Administrators in the schools should support guidance personnel to allow them time and responsibilities to insure that women and minority students receive adequate career awareness as well as career counseling.



Knowing the What, Who and When of Evaluation

The need for breadth in surveys, concepts, models, and educational organization suggests that development of a comprehensive career development evaluation program in schools and colleges may take years to actualize. This is particularly true of a system for collaborative evaluation of career development education. However, there are some guidelines that students and educators may consider in formulating collaborative evaluation plans.

First, formulate reasonably exacting performance objectives that meet the following five criteria:

- 1. The nature of the performance expected of the target group is clarified.
- 2. The level of direction of the expected accomplishment is clearly stated.
- 3. The units by which the performance will be measured are made evident.
- 4. The means by which the measurement will be accomplished is spelled out.
- 5. The special conditions under which the performance is to take place is detailed.

Second, every career education calendar should provide a detailed plan relating persons to program activities with a narratite and visual display of the following elements:

- 1. What individual career activities are to be undertaken in sequence?
- What specific techniques need to be employed and what is the rationale for their use in career activities?
 - 3. When will the career activities be carried out?
 - 4. Who will conduct the career activity?
 - 5. Where will the career activity take place?
 - 6. How long will each career activity take?
 - 7. When will reports on career findings be available?





For example, a career education model developed in Illinois at Joliet's Urban Comprehensive Occupational Education Demonstration Center has career awareness (grades K-6); career exploration (grades 6.5-8.5); career orientation and preparation (grades 8.5-12.5); post secondary preparation and apprenticeship training (grades 12.5-16.5); continuing education (grades 16.5-through retirement).

Third, every career education grade level for every student needs a new grading system to develop good attitudes and actions for work situations. Recently, several of the monograph's authors were involved in career education workshops sponsored by the Chicago Chapter of the World Education Fellowship and the Educational Facilities Center of Chicago. One of the models suggested that a new grading system might be started in the elementary schools beginning in the first grade. The purpose of the evaluation system would be to promote the affective domain so long neglected in favor of the cognitive domain in educational instutions. In implementing this model, the teacher would include:

- a. The student's view of himself;
- b. The student's ability to work with others--teachers and students;
- c. The student's attitude toward others--teachers and students;
- d. The student's work habits;
- The student's methods of inquiry;
- f. The student's abilities to clarify values;
- g. The student's abilities to understand and utilize the process of decision-making.

This, approach puts into better balance the skills needed for students in self evaluation of their construction of future life-careers, and it emphasizes the affective domain as much as we now stress the cognitive domain of "reading, writing, and arithmetic."



Testing Limitations

With adequate surveys, concepts, models, educational organization, and technical knowledge of evaluation, collaborative evaluation of career development education will move forward successfully. As such progress becomes possible the collaborative career education evaluator needs to realize that no one test can measure all kinds of career learning. For instance, the report, Testing the Ohio Career Development Program, submitted in 1973, gives evidence that no comprehensive battery of tests could be devised to measure all the learning that occurs in the nearly 170 occupational training programs offered during 1974-75 in Ohio high schools. The results of the Ohio study show that a test can be created to measure one or more types of learning but not all.

We should prepare ourselves and our students to collaborate in using the kind of multi-dimensional model found in <u>Planning</u>, <u>Structuring</u>, and <u>Evaluating</u> <u>Career Guidance for Integration by Noncollege-Bound Youths</u> (1973) by G. Brian Jones, David V. Tiedeman, Anita M. Mitchell, Waldemar R. Unruh, Carolyn B. Helliwell and Lauries H. Ganschow. In collaboratively evaluating career development education we need to remain flexible as suggested in this model and not look for quick, one instrument answers.

Chapter 7

CHALLENGES AND POTENTIALITIES

Career Education's Challenge to Change

For those who are presently comfortable, every change is a threat. Since the career education idea strikes at the stable establishment with many forces at once and from many directions at once, it initially stands as a threat to comfortable professional educators. The career education idea encourages everyone to get involved in the educational enterprise, brands traditional arenas of performance as insufficient, and points to self evaluated behavior in life careers as an attainable evaluative criterion for present programs. In short, there is more we have to do than we are doing. But the idea of career education is a generative one; it has the power to turn on energies within and without the schools. However, realization of that power carries with it the inherent directive to create new goals, to establish priorities, and to allocate energies to those new goals within one's priority system.

Career education is demanding; it may even be considered scary. But if career education chills your backbone, remember that career education is still a basic protoplasmic idea searching for its own everchanging form. It will be stimulated by highly specific elements in the local environment, but it will also move toward its own end. Career education has captured many educational workers because of its inherent life force. The idea moves—and yet it seeks, an identity in the lives of real students and real communities.

What will it take to involve ourselves and our educational institutions in career education?

Resources and potentialities

We have indicated that strong community support is a positive factor for career education, but this strength has to be capacitated. Teachers must relate to resource people and work sites in new ways.

,42

Business, industry, and government appear more than willing to cooperate by furnishing people as well as "laboratories" for learning by direct experience but care must go with the concern. Appropriate "business" procedures must be fashioned to achieve maximum involvement without killing the goose laying the golden eggs. Overuse, inattention to courtesies, and misuse of community-centered learning environments could turn cooperative efforts sour. To prevent this, advisory committees may help school and community people identify and meet problem situations in a spirit of good will.

New personnel may need to be hired to organize and maintain community resource files. Teachers who regard themselves as excellent in their subject centered field may need to evaluate themselves anew in terms of their contributions to the career development of their students. Administrators may need to see the utilization of parents and community resources as basic to the instructional programs, not separate entities kept for public relations purposes. Increasing involvement of career education in counselor education training programs is already evident in the 1974 national survey by the Association of Counselor Educators and Supervisors, but practicing counselors will need to assimilate career guidance into career development education much more fully than they do now.

Recently, publishers have produced a wide variety of media offerings for career education. Tapes, filmstrips, kits, and texts have been developed to help teachers individualize instruction, study the effects of accelerating change, and relate academic concepts to observable phenomena in local communities Stereotypes are out, the future is in, but no one should purchase any alleged career education material without checking to see if it truly promotes career development.

A host of materials may provide occupational information, and such instruction is necessary in its rightful place, but mere mention of a carpenter using a ruler does not justify the text as a resource for career development. Although familiarity with tools, uniforms, job descriptions, and work places are important, the significant factor in career development is the focus upon a person's self-image. Career development should aid the self-images of learners. Such materials are available, but they are harder to identify and find than many sales representatives would have us believe.

Professional educators come from diverse backgrounds with widely varying skills. All are ultimately judged as managers of their learning environments, but for some the utilization of human relations skills are a means to an end, not an end in itself as they must become in career education.

Teachers are models as well as guides. Their behavior—especially the way they demonstrate how they find out information, how they clarify values, and how they make decisions—serves as a viable vehicle for instruction.

Students learn what they live; in school as well as in the home and community. Therefore, examining teaching behavior for the purpose of planning more effective career development programs becomes a dire necessity.

Pre-service reograms must provide more opportunities for young college students to work with adults. Teacher educators must use primary sources, too, as they involve their pre-professionals in community service projects, parental programs, and business and governmental arenas. The new instruction demands more than studying books and working in controlled laboratory settings with children. Persons aspiring to teach must learn how to plan, implement; and evaluate educational activities in non-school settings as well as institutional, ones. The "community classroom" concept must become part of the working ideas of colleges and universities preparing personnel for our schools.

But what are we to do with our teachers presently in service? Staff development programs emphasizing the sharing of ideas to build direct experiences with active adults, interviews with local resource people and visits to area work places, interchanges with professionals from other school districts, and workshops to demonstrate plans and products of actual teachings have been highly successful motivators for change. Not all practicing teachers can be reached by one approach, but all teachers can be caught up in the idea of improving their teaching artistry. When the idea of career education is not treated as an extra add-on to an already crowded curriculum, but rather as a centripetal, integrational force, there is more willingness to learn—and change. Educational workers from many parts of the enterprise can get together to plan school—wide programs as well as assist each other with plans for specific lessons. Opportunities to talk and work through cooperative projects should be planned as an important part of each school in-service program.

Every organismic unity appears to be possessed of a latent potential beyond that perceived by the scientific observer. The educational profession has
shown a magnificent reservoir of talent and expertise in the past. Can it
deliver personalized service of even higher quality to reach new goals?

Almost every teacher, counselor, and administrator can get started in career education activities without extensive retraining. Almost every administrator has a back burner full of interesting ideas he could bring forth if the time were ripe. Many demonstration and exemplary projects literally grew from nothing more than an interest in "doing a better job." There was seed money and reallocations of some resources, but most career education projects in the early 1970's were the result of a few people putting forth extra effort to make change come about sooner and more effectively. "Success" often lay in getting co-workers to refocus their energies so the "system" could produce better products.

What the products were to be were often unspecified, but there was an expected cosmic consciousness about the nature of the human being and his struggles to become. Professional workers "knew" what had to be done. It was within them.

One person's presence—and effort—may be all that is needed in many instances, but how to identify that individual, and how to achieve the right affective environment for that extra social spirit to take hold?

We can labor at our work and measure the effort in time, or materials, or space, but then along comes a life-centered program—fashioned by us, for us. Loving our work, even though it is difficult, complex, and time-consuming, we proceed to find new energies within to create anew.

It has been written that career education is an idea whose time has come.

Behold! It is we who have come upon career education. What shall we do next-wait for the next idea?

REFERENCES

<u>----</u>,

- Brickell, Henry M., and Wong, Susan. "Evaluating the State of Ohio Career Development Program." <u>Journal of Research and Development in Education</u> (Spring 1974), 29-38. (EJ 100 386).
 - The Career Education Project. Providence, Rhode Island: 900 Howard Building
 - The Changing World of Work. New York, New York: Columbia University Graduate School of Business, 1973. (ED 096 535).
 - Dittenhafer, Clarence A., and Lewis, James P. <u>Guidelines for Establishing</u>

 <u>Career Resource Centers</u>. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania Research Coordinating
 Unit for Vocational Education, 1973, 60 pp. (ED 103 582)
 - Gingerick, Garland E. School-Based Job Placement Service Model: Phase I,
 Planning. Final Report. Brownstone, Pennsylvania: Brownstone Area
 Vocational-Technical School, 1972. 63 pp. (ED 069 887).
- Jaski, Ernest. <u>Career Education A New Challenge to Counselors</u>. Chicago: Southwest College of Chicago City Colleges, 1975, p. 10.
- Jones, G. Brian, and Others. Planning, Structuring, and Evaluating Career Guidance for Integration by Noncollege-Bound Youths. Palo Alto, California: American Institutes of Research in Behavioral Sciences, 1973. (ED 082 073).
- Jones, Hilda. The Effects of Pre-College Counseling on the Educational and Career Aspirations of Blacks and Women Enrolled at the University of Pittsburgh. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh, 1973.
- Lewis, James P., and Dittenhafer, Clarence A. <u>Evaluation of Selected Career</u>
 <u>Resource Centers in Pennsylvania. Final Report</u>. Harrisburg: Pennsylvania
 Research Coordinating Unit for Vocational Education, 1973. 46 pp.

 (ED 103 444).
- Life Career Development: `A Model for Relevant Education. Raleigh, North Carolina: North Carolina Department of Public Instruction, Division of Pupil Personnel Services, 1974, pp. 1-34.
- PENNscript Office. Harrisburg, Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania Department of Education, Bureau of Vocational, Technical and Continuing Education, Research Coordinating Unit.

Appendix A

BIBLIOGRAPHY OF ERIC

CAREER EDUCATION LITERATURE

by

Tyrus Wessell

James E. Hedstrom

Contents'

Overview

· Citations

- A.1 Philosophy
- A.2 Programs
- A.3 Program Organization, Administration and Evaluation
- A.4 Education in Career Education

Appendix A

OVERVIEW

This primer introduced conceptions of career development, initiated a reconstructive evaluation of the premises of education, and specifically included discussions of 1) the incorporation of learning while doing into education, 2) sharing education of youths with parents and community, 3) revising existing curriculum to include activities designed to foster cyclic processes of career integration, differentiation, and reintegration,
4) organizing resources and programs for career education, and 5) evaluating existing career education programs. In this appendix, we summarize the results of a recent survey of the ERIC literature in career education, and provide the reader with a structure to facilitate her or his process of learning about career education through the ERIC literature.

The ERIC System

Ine ERIC System

As indicated in Chapter 5, the ERIC Clearinghouse in Career Education (ERIC/CICE), one of sixteen Clearinghouses in the ERIC network, solicits, acquires, selects, abstracts, and catalogs documents and journal articles in the Career Education, Adult and Continuing Education, and Vocational Education areas. The Clearinghouse also provides individual service to users upon request, provides information analyses, and conducts workshops and inservice training programs within its scope. A recent development in the area of information dissemination has been the evolvement of computer capability for searching the ERIC files through the use of carefully designed search strategies, logic strings, and descriptors.

Consolidating the ERIC Files on Career Education

The authors of this Appendix examined career education ERIC documents and materials during 1975-76. Using the computer search strategy mentioned above, the project yielded comprehensive listing of the available literature in the career education field. Following a format similar in design and structure to the chapters of this primer, search strategies were constructed to elicit and identify document titles, journal articles, and abstracts in the areas of career education programming efforts; career education methodology; career education resources; career education program organization and administration; career education inservice and workshop efforts; and career education philosophical discussions. Documents were further classified according to the various education levels (elementary, middle school/junior high, secondary, and post-secondary) to facilitate easy user accessibility.

Although the primer presented evidence of the quality and quantity of existing career education resources, the purposes of this appendix are 1) to present some general conclusions concerning the scope and state of the field, 2) to present a general structure for a more scholarly and comprehensive review of the entire field, and 3) to provide readers with impetus for further study.

Books and texts on the concept of career education began to appear shortly after former Commissioner of Education's Marland's 1971 Houston speech.

McClure (1975), working in cooperation with the Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, the wited States Office of Education, and the National Institute of Education, reviewed these post-Marland contributions. Among the early works cited by McClure are:

- American Vocational Association. Career Education: Third Yearbook, 1973.
- Bailey, Larry J., and Stadt, Ronald. <u>Career Education: New Approaches to Human Development</u>. Bloomington, Illinois: Knight Publishing Company, 1973.
- Davenport, Lawrence, and Petly, Reginald. <u>Minorities and Career Education</u>. Columbus, Ohio: ECCA-Publications, 1973. (ED 073 306)
- Goldhammer, K., and Taylor, Robert E. <u>Career Education: Perspective and Promise</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill, 1972. (ED 064 517)
- Hoyt, Kenneth B., and Others. <u>Career Education: What It Is and How To Do</u>
 <u>It</u>. Salt Lake City, Utah: Olympus Publishing Company, 1974. (ED 062 573)
- McClure, Larry, and Buan, Carolyn, Eds. <u>Essays on Career Education</u>. Portland, Oregon: Northwest Regional Educational Laboratory, 1973. (ED 074 220)
- Pucinski, Roman C., and Hirsch, Sharlene Pearlman, Eds. <u>The Courage to Change:</u>
 New Directions for Career Education. Englewood Cliffs, N.J.: Prenticer
 Hall, 1971.
- Stevenson, John B. An Introduction to Career Education. Worthington, Ohio: C. A. Jones Publishing Company, 1973.
- Wigglesworth, David C. A Guide to Career Education. San Francisco: Canfield Press, 1974.

Because of ERIC/s policy of not normally announcing documents of a commercial nature, the references cited above are not likely to be available through ERIC. Instead, they must be purchased directly from their publishers or located in a library. In the realm of speeches, journal articles, and unpublished documents, however, the ERIC files provide users with a comprehensive accumulation of the career education resources. What follows, is a brief review of the scope of the career education literature as determined from the 1975-76 survey of ERIC literature on career education.

Philosophy

Appendix A.1 identifies more than 100 references in the area of career education philosophy. Included are speeches such as Marland's 1971 Houston speech, and writings by authorities such as Bailey and Hoyt. The offerings in this section therefore provide career education leaders with the material for introducing career education to their publics, their teachers, and their administrators. The material within this section may also be used to substantiate the need and rationale for career education as well as provide the uninitiated with a discussion of the over-all goals and objectives for comprehensive programs. Readers are urged to read and/or review a variety of the offerings listed in this category.

Programs

Career education program descriptions, supplementary resource materials, and comprehensive discussions of Federal, state, and institutional career educational plans exist in high quantity in ERIC. At all levels (elementary, middle school, high school, and post-secondary) and for a variety of specialized populations, the documents and selected journal articles identified in Appendix A.2 offer potential and practicing career education persons a great deal of experience and suggestions. Program descriptions very often contain material



relative to stages of implementation, program objectives and goals, supplementary materials developed and/or employed, unit plans, and, to a lesser extent, evaluation data concerning the efficaciousness of the program in meeting pre-determined goals and objectives. More than 300 references in this category have the potential of greatly facilitating the career education programming efforts of educators charged with the responsibility for developing and implementing career education programs.

Program Organization, Administration, and Evaluation

The proliferation of career education programs at all educational levels highlights the need for information concerning the organization, inistration, and evaluation of career education programs. The various models (school-based, community-based, industry-based, media-based), and the availability of numerous unit plans, curriculum guides, goal statements, and philosophical discussions, while valuable, necessitates a thorough grounding in organizational skills by those individuals purporting to initiate efforts in career education. The wealth of information, the variety of conflicting philosophies, the resistance of some teachers, community members, and administrators, and the possibilities for mass duplication requires that systematic and joint planning be a part of the entire programming effort.

The approximately forty documents identified in Appendix A.3 provide information regarding solicitation of staff members, organizing for community support, surveying school and community needs, establishing objectives and goals, evaluation of existing programs, applying for federal and state grants and many other types of administrative information.

Education in Career Education

Preparation of persons to function in career education has evolved into a topic of mutual concern and interest of university faculty, school administrators, career education coordinators, curriculum supervisors, and public school teachers. Utilization of community resources, organization and administration of career education programs, career development theory, career education concepts, appraisal and assessment techniques, behavioral objectives, role and responsibility of specific groups, and many other topics have been the subject of a number of reported workshops and inservice programs. Designing activities to infuse career concepts into the curriculum, likewise, have received the attention of workshop organizers and inservice leaders.

The resources listed in Appendix A.4 are offered to facilitate one's own training efforts through workshop and/or inservice experiences. Included within these documents are university-sponsored workshops, individual school district inservice efforts, state educational agency sponsored training programs, and inservice and workshop programs sponsored by professional associations such as the local education association, and local, state, and regional guidance associations. Office of Education programs are also included.

54

Appendix A. 1

PHILOSOPHY

- Adams, Willie. Career Education: Turn Student On In The Middle School and Junior High. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1973, 45(8), 174, 177. (EJ 069 484).
- Alexander, John W. <u>Liberal Arts and Career Education: Must They Be Mutually Exclusive?</u> Paper presented at the American Association of Higher Education National Conference, Chicago, Illinois, 1974. (ED 089 573).
- Asche, Marion. The Interrelationships Between Self-Concepts and Occupational Concepts of Post-High School Vocational-Technical Students. Paper presented to the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, Illinois, 1974. (ED 094 126).
- Bailey, Larry J. Objectives For Career Education At The Elementary Education Level. Paper prepared for the Annual Conference of the Business Teacher Education Research Foundation, Chicago, Illinois, 1973. (ED 078 137).
- Bailey, Larry J., and Nystrom, Dennis C. A Rationale for Career Development At the Elementary School Level. Journal of Industrial Teacher Education, 1972, 9(2), 5-10. (EJ 052 922).
- Bailey, Stephen K. Career Education and Higher Education. Educational Record, 1973, 54(4), 255-259. (EJ 086 280).
- Baird, Leonard L., and Others. <u>The Graduates: A Report on the Flans and Characteristics of College Seniors</u>. Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Service, 1973. (ED 093 185).
- Bender, Robert C. Vocational Development In The Elementary School: A Framework For Implementation. School Counselor, 1973, 21(2), 110-120. (EJ 092 456).
- Bennett, James G., Jr. Developing Positive Perceptions About the World of Work. Business Education World, 1971, 52(1), 13,31. (EJ 049 398).
- Bennett, Robert L. Career Education Planning for the 1970s and 1980s. Planning

 Report Number 1. San Mateo, Calif.: San Mateo Junior Coll., 1973. (ED 089 088)
- Blai, Boris, Jr. <u>Job Satisfactions and Work Values for Women</u>: Bryn Mawr, Pa.: Harcum Junior Coll., 1970. (ED 040 705).
- Bostwick, Willard D. Cooperative Education: Vocational Guidance Implications. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1972, 21(2), 120-124. (EJ 069 466).
- Brandon, George L., Ed. Research Visibility: Guidance and New Careers. Washington, D.C.: American Vocational Association, 1969. (ED 034 882).
- Campbell, Robert E., and Others. The Systems Approach: An Emerging Behavioral
 Model for Vocational Guidance. A Summary Report. Research and Development
 Series No. 45. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and
 Technical Education, 1971. (ED 047 127).



- Brown, Duane, and Others. Career Education: The Counselor's Role. School Counselor, 1973, 20(3), 193-96. (EJ 072 821).
- Career Education. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 059 396).
- Career Guidance. A Report of the Subcommittee on Career Guidance of the Committee on Specialized Personnel. Washington, D.C.: Manpower Administration (DOL), See of Manpower Research, 1967. (ED 025 786).
- Chipley, Donald R., and Wootton, Lutian R. Career Development in the Elementary School: A Practical Schema. Publisher unlisted, 1970. (ED 073 320).
- Claudy, John G. Occupational Outcomes: Who, What and Why? Palo Alto, Calif.: American Institutes for Research; Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association, 1970. (Ef 043 038).
- Cochran, John R., and Weis, David M. An Evaluation of Two Career Exploration Programs in 1970-71. Akron, Ohio: Akron Whiv., 1972. (ED 073 310).
- Crosier, Heidi J. Research and Curriculum Development for an Exploratory
 Work Experience Program--10th Crade. Final Report and Appendices.
 Publisher unlisted, 1972. (ED 070 856).
- DeBernardis, Amo. What Career Education Means for the Community College. Community and Junior College Journal, 1973, 43(8), 9-11, 42. (EJ, 075, 995).
- De los Santos, Alfred G., Jr., Career Education and Minority, Students. Illinois Career Education Journal, 1973, 31(1), 10-14. (EJ 085 596).
- Drier, Harry N., and Jepsen, David A.. The Use of Television and Video Tape .Compared to Researching Printed Career Information as a Means of Assisting Rural 9th Grade Youth Career Decision Making Process. Research Report. Towa City, Ia.: Iowa Univ; & Madison, Wisc.: Wisconsin State Dept. of Public Instruction, 1971. (ED 053,561).
- Dunn, James A. The AIR Career Education Curriculum Development Project.
 Palo Alto, Calif.: American Institutes for Research in the Behavioral
 ** Sciences, 1972. (ED 072 259).
- Dunn; James A. Project Plan: Guidance Through the Instructional Process.

 The Accompdation of Individual Differences in the Development of Personal Programs of Study. Washington, D.C.: 1) American Institutes for Research;

 2) American Personnel and Guidance Association, 3) American Psychological Association, 1969: (ED 035 907).
 - Eble, Kenneth E. <u>Career Development of the Effective Pollege Teacher</u>.

 Washington, D.C.: 1) American Association of Univ. Professors, 2) Association of American Colleges, 1971. (ED 089 630).
 - Elliott, Lloyd H. Limits of Relevance and Choice. Address presented to Annual Meeting of the Middle Atlantic Association of Colleges of Business Administration, Washington, D.C., 1969. (ED 235 346).

- Elson, Amy M., and Elson, Donald E. Career Awareness in the Elementary School. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1973, 46(3), 67, 70. (EJ 081 088).
- Fadale, Laverna M. An Instrument to Determine Career Awareness. Ithaca, N.Y.: State Univ. of New York, Cornell Inst. for Research and Development in Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 082 061).
- Fadale, Vincent E., and Fadale, LaVerna M. Careers and College Students
 Publisher unlisted, 1973 (ED 074 393)
- Fanelli, Richard. Career Education's Coming of Age. Media and Methods, 1973, 9(8), 53-55. (EJ 077 568).
- Ferreira, Charles W. Career Exploration for Children: Elementary Career Development Education. Career Education Digest, 1974, 21-9. (EJ 098 897).
- Flanagan, John C... Progress in Education 1960-1970: A Sample Survey.

 Palo Alto, Calif.: American Institutes for Research in the Behavioral Sciences, 1971. (ED 052 226).
- Fordham, Paul: Vocational Motivation and Curriculum Development in Extramural Work. Adult Education, 1973, 46(2), 86-91. (EJ 082 415).
- Gibson, Robert L. <u>Career Development in the Elementary School</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill Publishing Co., 1972. (ED 064 478).
- Goldhammer, Keith & Taylor, Robert E. <u>Career Education: Perspective and</u>, <u>Promise</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill Publishing Co., 1972. (ED 064 517).
- Goodson, William Dale. A Study to Determine Which Approach to Large

 Vocational Guidance Groups is Most Effective in Aiding the Educational

 Choice and Vocational Development of College Students. Washington, D.C.:

 American Personnel and Guidance Association; & Provo, Utah: Brigham Young
 Univ., 1970. (ED 040 424).
- Gysbers, Norman C., Ed., and Others. <u>Developing Careers in the Elementary</u>
 School. Columbus, Ohio: Merrill Publishing Co., 1973. (ED 092 716)...
- Hall, Samuel M., Jr., and Others. Developing Career Counseling Services at a Predominately Black College: Implications for More Effective Programs for Black Students at "White" Colleges or Universities. American Coll.

 Personnel Association, 1970. (ED 041 317).
- Halverson. Paul M. Career Development in the Elementary School: A Rationale. Elementary School Journal, 1974; 75(2), 122-128. (EJ 106 277).
- Hansen, L. Sunny. <u>Social Aspects and Considerations of Career Education</u>.
 Paper presented at the U.S.O.E. Institutes for Curriculum Personnel.
 Development (Ft. Gollins, Colorado and Washington, D.C.), 1972. (ED 072 273).
- Hansen, Lorraine Sundal, and Others: Career Guidance Practices in School and Community. Ann Arbor, Mich.: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1970. (ED 037 595).

- Harrison, Don K., and Others. A Set of Generalizations and Implications for New Developments in Guidance and Personnel Services: Guidance and Student Services for the Culturally Different. Ann Arbor, Mich.: SRIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1970. (ED 037 596).
- Healy, Charles. <u>Career Counseling in the Community College</u>. Los Angeles, Calif.: University of California at Los Angeles, ERIC Clearinghouse for Junior Coll. Information, 1974. (ED 094 813).
- Helling, Cliff E., and Ruff, Eldon. <u>Career Guidance</u>: Raleigh, No. Carolina: North Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 076°757).
- Herman, Michele H., and Sedlacek, William E. Career Orientation of High School and University Women. <u>Journal of the NAWDAC</u>, 1974, 37(4), 161-166. (EJ 100 751).
- Herr, Edwin L. Review and Synthesis of Foundations for Career Education.
 Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State University, Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1972. (ED 059 402).
- Herr, Edwin L., and Cramer, Stankey H. <u>Vocational Guidance and Career</u>

 <u>Development in the Schools: Toward a Systems Approach.</u> Geneva, III.:

 Houghton Mifflin Co., 1972. (ED 068 653).
- High, Sidney C., Jr. A National Perspective on Career Education. <u>Journal of Research and Development in Education</u>, 1974, 7(3), 3-17. (EJ 100 384).
- Hill, George E. <u>Career Education: Guidance in the Elementary School</u>.
 Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 080 663).
- Hoffman, S. David, and Rolin, Stephen A. Implications of Future Shock for Vocational Guidance. <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, 1972, 21(2). (EJ 069 365)
- Hopke; William E., Ed. <u>The Encyclopedia of Careers and Vocational Guidance</u>, <u>Volume I: Planning Your Career</u>. Chicago, Ill.: J. G. Ferguson Publishing Co., 1972. (ED 069 881).
- Hopke, William E., Ed. The Encyclopedia of Careers and Vocational Guidance,

 Volume II: Careers and Occupations. Chicago III.: J. G. Ferguson
 Publishing Co., 1972. (ED 069 882).
- Howe, Harold, II. The People Who Serve Education. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1968. (ED 028 109).
- The Implications of Vocational Development on High School Level Vocational—

 Technical Education. Final Report. Harrisburg, Pa.: Pennsylvania State

 Dept. of Public Instruction, Bureau of Vocational, Technical, and Continuing Education; & Easton, Pa.: Vocational-Technical School of Eastern Northampton County, 1968. (ED 031 582).

- Kahne, Hilda. Women in the Professions: Journal of Gollege Placement, 1973, 33(4), 58-63. (EJ, 082 499):
- Kapes, Jerome T. The Relationship Between Selected Characteristics of Ninth Grade Boys and Curriculum Selection and Success in Tenth Grade. University Park, Pa.: Pennsylvania State Univ., Dept. of Vocational Education, 1971. (ED 055 238).
- Karman, Felice J. Women: Personal and Environmental Factors in Career Choice.
 Paper presented at the Annual Meeting American Educational Research
 Association (New Orleans, Louisiana), 1973. (ED 074 400)
- Kehas, Chris D. <u>Guidance and the Process of Schooling: Considerations of Curriculum and Career Education</u>. Paper presented at the American Personnel and Guidance Association Convention in Chicago, Ill., 1972. (ED 078 318).
- Kerlan, Julius H., and Ryan, Charles W. New Interpretations of Guidance Role. American Vocational Journal, 1972, 47(2), 77-80. (EJ 051 521).
- Kiesow, Milton A: Career Education for Prospective High School Teachers. Publisher unlisted, 1972. (ED 076 508).
- Kleve, Gerald L., and Others. <u>Career Education in the Elementary School</u>. St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota State Dept. of Education; Division of Instruction, 1974. (ED 086 941).
- Koschler, Theodore A., and Parker, Allen L. How Broad Is Technical Education? Technical Education Reporter, 1974, 1(1), 9-19. (EJ 097 408).
- Kunze, Karl R. Overview of Needs, Programs, and Implementations of Vocational.

 Counseling and Guidance, Paper presented at the Regional Conference on
 Career Guidance, Counseling and Placement in Burbank, California, 1970.

 (ED 049 499).
- Lessinger, Leon. Educational Stability in an Unstable Technical Society.
 Publisher unlisted, 1965. (ED 019 462).
- Lessinger, Leon. Toward A More Adequate High School Student Typology. Publisher unlisted, 1965. (ED 019 463).
- Lins, L. J. Post-Secondary Educational Preferences of High School Seniors.

 A Survey of Spring 1968 Wisconsin High School Seniors. Madison, Wis.:

 Wisconsin Coordinating Council for Higher Education, 1969. (ED 033 660)
- Logue, Brady. What Are You Doing in an Occupational School? <u>Emphasis</u>
 <u>Career Education</u>, 1974, 1(2), 43-4. (EJ 095.791).

- Malsbary, Dean R., and Holmes, Samuel F., Jr. A Study of Education for the Distributive Occupations with Implications for Better Articulation of High School and Community College Programs in Connecticut. Hartford, Conn.: Connecticut State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education; & Storrs, Conn.: Connecticut Univ., Dept. of Higher, Technical, and Adult Education, 1969. (ED 031 584).
- Mannebach, Alfred J. <u>Career Education in the Elementary School</u>. <u>Agricultural</u> Education Magazine, 1973, 45(7), 154-155. (EJ 067 951).
- Manning, Paul, C, and Gay, Lorraine R. Establishment of Wocational Guidance Priorities. Counselor Education and Supervision, 1973, 12(4), 249-254. (EJ 079 091).
- Mariella, Raymond P., and Ryan, John W. The Supply and Demand Situation. A Summary Review. Communicator. May 1974. Washington, D.C.: Council of Graduate Schools in the U.S., 1974. (ED 090 862):
 - Marland, S. P., Jr. <u>The Need for Career Education</u>. Presentation at Career Education Workshop, New York, 1972. (ED 067 450).
- Marland, S. P., Jr. Voices from the Real World. Presented at the Annual Conference of the Council of the Colleges of Arts and Sciences, Washington, D.C., 1972. (ED 078 124).
- Mathewson, Beatrice M., and Staropoli, Charles J. <u>Career Education in the Elementary School</u>. Publisher unlisted, 1973. (ED 082 038).
- McAlister, Bernard Milton. Curriculum Selection and Success of Tenth Grade Girls as Related to Selected Ninth Grade Characteristics. University Park, Pa.: Pennsylvania State Univ., Dept. of Vocational Education, 1973. (BD 079 495).
- McClure, Larry, and Buan, Carolyn, Eds. Essays on Career Education.

 Portland, Ore.: Northwest Regional Educational Lab., 1973. (ED 074 220)
- McLester, Celeste, and Mahrt, James L., Comps. <u>Current Report on Career Development Projects</u>, 1972-1973. Lansing, Mich.: Michigan State Dept. of Education, Div. of General Education, 1972. (ED 073 295).
- Mead, Martha L. A Suggested Approach to a School-Based Model of Career Education. Thrust for Education Leadership, 1973, 2(4), 38-40. (EJ 070 956)
- Millard, Richard M. The Role, Responsibility, and Function of the Community Colleges in Occupational Education. Speech presented to the Community College Seminar, Boston Hotel, Fitchburg, Mass., 1972. (ED 063 936).
- Miller, Dudley B. A Critical Analysis of the Vocational Guidance Practices
 Employed by Industrial Arts Teachers in Selected Junior High Schools in
 the United States. Ed.D. dissertation, Pennsylvania State University, 1965
 (ED 058 427).

- Moore, Kathryn M. The Cooling Out of Two-Year College Women. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, Illinois, 1974. (ED 091 021).
- Morrill, Weston H., and Forrest, David J. Dimensions of Counseling for Career Development. Personnel and Guidance Journal, 1970, 49(4), 299-305. (EJ 027 910).
- Oberlander, Oliver C. A Study of Occupational Practices As They Relate to Curriculum Design for Career Education. Mount Pleasant, Mich.: Central Michigan Univ., Dept. of Industrial Education and Technology, 1971. (ED 068 629).
- Peters, Herman J., and Hansen, James C. <u>Vocational.Guidance and Career Development.</u> Selected Readings. New York: Macmillan Co., 1971. (ED 068 656).
- Pinson, Nancy M. Counselor and Career Education; A Defense of and a Challenge to the Profession. 1973 paper presented at the American Vocational Association Convention, Guidance Section meeting, Atlanta, Georgia, 1973. (ED 090 375)
- Post High School Career Preference Study of District Three Southwest Wisconsin
 High School Junior Students. Fennimore, Wis.: Southwest Wisconsin VocationalTechnical School, 1972. (ED 066 595).
- Progress of Education in the United States of America: 1970-71 and 1971-72. Washington, D.C.: Institute of International Studies (DHEW/OE), 1973. (ED 083.756).
- Pruitt, Anne S. Teacher Involvement in the Curriculum and Career Guidance.

 <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, 1969, 17(3), 189-93; (EJ 003 491).
- Ratcliff, James L. Job Development: What It Is and How to Do'It. A Report of the National Dissemination Project for Post-Secondary Education.

 Seattle, Wash.: Washington State Board for Community Coll. Education, Research and Planning Office, 1974. (ED 092 186).
- Research and Development Project for the Establishment of Career Education:

 K-12 in Regional District 13. Final Report. Durham, Conn.: Connecticut,
 Regional School District 13, 1972: (ED 069 857).
- Research Visibility, 1967-68, Reports on Selected Research Studies in

 Vocational, Technical, and Practical Arts Education. Washington, D.C.:

 American Vocational Assn., 1968. (ED 020 302).
- Ressler, Ralph. <u>Prescription for K-6</u>. School Shop, 1973, 32(8), 73-75. (EJ 076 084).
- Rhyne, R. F., and Others. A Futures Perspective on Employer-Based Career .

 Education, 1971-2000. Menlo Park, Calif.: Stanford Research Inst., 1971.

 (ED 061-733).
- Roberts, Nick J. Establishing a Need-for a Vocational Guidance Program at the Elementary and Middle School Level. Elementary School Guidance and Counseling, 1972, 6(4), 252-256. (EJ 057 180).



- Scoggins, Will. <u>Labor in Learning: Public School Treatment of the World of Work</u>. Los Angeles, Calif.: California Univ., Center for Labor Research and Education, 1966. (ED 023 787).
- Scott, C. S., and Others. <u>Vocational Choice Change Patterns of a National Sample of Community-Junior College Students</u>. Iowa City, Ia.: American Coll. Testing Program, Research and Development Div., 1974. (ED 093 432).
- Shaw, Gerald Henry. Essential Vocational Guidance Services and Their Implementations in the Public Junior Colleges of California. Los Angeles, Calif: California Univ., 1968. (ED 024 385).
- Smith, Ralph A. The Arts, Cultural Services, and Career Education: Recommendations for Curriculum Work. <u>Journal of Aesthetic Education</u>, 1973, 7(4), 97-108. (EJ 093 829).
- Smith, R. Douglas. Facilitating Career Development Through Decision-Making:

 A Pilot Stedy. Charleston, W. Va.: Appalachia Educational Lab., 1973.

 (ED 079 663).
- Snelling, W. Rodman, and Boruch, Robert F. <u>Science in Liberal Arts Colleges.</u>

 <u>A Longitudinal Study of 49 Selective Colleges.</u> N.Y.: Columbia University

 <u>Press, 1972. (ED 063 102).</u>
- Souch, S. G. The Enigma of Education for the World of Work. <u>Canadian</u> <u>Counsellor</u>, 1971, 5(3), 191-193. (EJ 040 447).
- Starkey, John D. <u>Vocational Choice and Guidance? Whose Task?</u> DeKalb, Ill.: Northern Illinois Univ., Coll. of Education, 1967. (ED 039 562).
- Stevenson, William W., and Sandlin, Blan E. Evaluating Career Guidance,

 Counseling and Placement—State Level, Identifying Areas of Concern and

 Determining Evidences Needed for Evaluation: Career Guidance, Counseling

 and Placement—State Level. Oklahoma City, Okla.: Oklahoma State Dept. of

 Education, 1970. (ED 046 009).
- Stevic, Richard, and Uhlig, George. Occupational Aspirations of Selected Apparachian Youth. Publisher unlisted, 1967. (ED 013 159).
- Stoddard, Kathleen B. A Career Development General Education Seminar. Paper presented at the American Psychological Association Convention, Honolulu, Hawaii, 1972. (ED 079 655).
- Sutherland, Janet. Career Education: Curriculum Development for the Elementary School. <u>Business Education Forum</u>, 1974, 28(5), 29-83. (EJ 092 280):
- Trueblood, Roy W. The Comprehensive Community College--Promises to Keep.
 Paper presented at Southeastern Campus Ministers Conference, Atlanta,
 Georgia, 1973. (ED 085 068).
- Veres, Helen C. <u>Career Choice and Career Commitment of Two-Year College Women</u>. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, Illinois, 1974. (ED 091 020).

- Nocational Guidance. Educational Documentation and Information, 1971, 181, 21-71. (EJ 061 514).
- Weaver, Charles E. Orientation to Work for the Students in the Junior High School. Presented at Institute on Occupational Analysis as a Basis for Curriculum Development, Colorado State Univ., Fort Collins, Colorado, 1968. (ED 024 990).
- Wernick, Walter. <u>Teaching For Career Development In The Elementary School.</u>

 <u>A Life-Centered Approach.</u> Worthington, Ohio: Charles A. Jones Publishing Company, 1973. (ED 078 204).
- Wilder, Dee, and Others, Comps. Annotated Bibliography on Career Education
 For Administrators. Knoxville, Tenn.: Tennessee Research Coordinating
 Unit for Vocational Education, 1973. (ED 084 415).
- Worthington, Robert M. Why Career Education? School Shop, 1972, 31(7), 37-39. (EJ 052 930).
- Yawkey, Thomas D., and Aronin, Eugene L. Career Education and Vocational Development in the Junior High Schools. <u>Career Education Digest</u>, 1974, 15-18. (EJ 092 310).
- Yawkey, Thomas D. Fostering Relevance With Career Education In the Elementary School. Education, 1974, 95(1), 44-50.
- York, Edwin G,, and Kapadia, Madhu. Voices for Careers. Trenton, N.J.: New Jersey State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 069 870).

Appendix A. 2

PROGRAMS.

Elementary School

Middle/Junior High School

Secondary School

Post Secondary, University, and Adult

Elementary School

- All About Me. Marion, Towa: Linn-Mar Community School District, 1972. (ED 090 376).
- Appreciation-Attitudes, Decision Making, Educational Awareness, and Employability: Elementary Career Education Guide. Volume 5. Watertown, S.Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973. (ED 086 826).
- Bailey, Larry J. Career Exploration For Elementary Children: A Curriculum Model. Perrysburg, Ohio: Perrysburg School District; and Carbondale, Ill.: Southern Illinois Univ., Career Development for Children Project, 1973. (ED 094 161).
- Bailey, Larry J. <u>Career Development For Children Project. Final Report.</u>
 Springfield, Ill.: Illinois State Board of Vocational Education and Rehabilitation; and Carbondale, Ill.: Southern Illinois Univ., Career Development for Children Project, 1973. (ED 084 412).
- Beginning Competency: Elementary Career Education Guide. Volume 4.
 Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973.
 (ED 086 825).
- Boldrey, Tom, and Broncato, J. S. <u>Project Joliet</u>. Joliet, Ill.: Joliet Public Schools, 1972. (ED 092 792).
- Bowling Green Career Education Manual for Teachers, Counselors and
 Administrators. Bowling Green, Ky.: Bowling Green Board of Education;
 and Frankfort, Ky.: 1) Kentucky State Dept. of Education, 2) Kentucky
 State Dept. of Education, Bureau of Vocational Education. (ED 092 772)
- Career Awareness. A Teacher's Guide For Elementary Grades. Little Rock, Arkansas: Arkansas State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational, Technical and Adult Education. (ED 073 254)
- Career Awareness For Secondary and Elementary Students. CASES Resource

 Curriculum Guide. Volume I: K-6. Sioux Falls, S. Dak.: Sioux Falls
 Independent School District 1, 1973. (ED 087 890).
- Career Awareness--Primary: Elementary Career Education Guide. Volume 2.
 Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973.
 (ED 086 822).
- Career Awareness--Intermediate: Elementary Career Education Guide.

 Volume 2B. Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973. (ED 086 823).
- Career Development. Texarkana, Ark.: Texarkana School District 7, 1973. (ED 086 791).



- Career Development Curriculum Guide 1970-1973. Elementary, Fifth and Sixth Grades. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland Public Schools, 1973. (ED 089 113).
- Career Development Exemplary Project. An Interdisciplinary Course of Study
 For Grades 1-6. (First Draft). Washington, D.C.: District of Columbia
 Public Schools, Dept. of Career Development, 1973. (ED 087 923).
- Career Development Resource Materials K-6. St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education; and Washington, Inc.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1972. (ED 084 365).
- Career Education In The Elementary School: A Real Life Drama. DeKalb, Ill.: Northern Illinois Univ., Able Model Program, 1972. (ED 094 100).
- Career Motivation: Curriculum Guide For Grades K-6. Ohio's Career

 Continuum. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Dept. of Education, Div. of
 Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 075 641).
- Cargile, Lee L. Elementary School Implements Comprehensive Career Education Program. Thrust For Education Leadership, 1972, 1(5), 30-32. (EJ 060 159).
- Connor, Pete, and Others. <u>Career Awareness: Owatonfia Elementary Schools</u>. St. Paul, Minn.: Minnesota State Dept. of Education, Pupil Personnel Services Section, 1973. (ED 084 366).
- "Countdown To The 70's." Occupational Information For Upper Elementary

 And Middle Grades. Tallahassee, Fla.: Florida State Dept. of Education,
 Div. of Vocational, Technical and Adult Education, 1971. (ED 059 364).
- Crites, Margie, and Floyd, Janice. <u>Career Education Activities</u>, <u>Washington County</u>, <u>Maryland</u>. Baltimore, Maryland: Maryland State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational-Technical Education; and Hagerstown, Md.: Washington County Board of Education, 1972. (ED 094 175).
- Deay, Ardeth M., and Others. <u>Infusion Models: Career Education In The Elementary School</u>. Albany, N.Y.: New York State Education Dept., Office of Occupational Education; and Ithaca, N.Y.: State Univ. of New York, Cornell Inst. For Research and Development In Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 076 831).
- Deiulio, Anthony M., and Young, James M. Career Education In The Elementary School. Phi Delta Kappan, 1973, 54(6), 378-380. (EJ.074 335).
- Delaware's Occupational-Vocational Education Model: Career Development

 Learning Units: Elementary School. Washington, D.C.: Bureau of Adult,
 Vocational, and Technical Education (DHEW/OE), 1972. (ED 085 529).
- Dickson, Helen K. Shopper's Flyer For Elementary School Career Education Curriculum Materials. Watertown, S. Dak.: South Dakota Career Education Project, 1974. (ED 092 744).
- Dunn, James A. The Air Career Education Curriculum Development Project.
 Palo Alto, Galif.: American Institutes For Research In The Behavioral
 Sciences, 1972. (ED 072 259).

- Economic Awareness: Elementary Career Education Guide. Volume 3. Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973. (ED 086 824).
- Elementary School Industrial Arts Interaction Technology For Children. A

 Positive Approach To Education For A Changing Society. Baton Rouge,
 La.: Louisiana State Dept. of Education, 1972. (ED 061 444).
- Evans, Erma. World of Work In An Elementary School. Publisher unlisted, 1972. (ED 068 887).
- Fadale, Laverna M. <u>Career Awareness Inventory</u>. <u>Student Booklet</u>. Albany, N.Y.: New York State Education Dept., Office of Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 082 062).
- For Those Developing World of Work Resource Units For Elementary School

 Teachers. DeKalb, Ill.: Northern Illinois Univ., Date unlisted. (ED 062 519).
- Fuson, Donna. Project Eve Elementary Vocational Education: Elementary Career Education Through Staff Development. <u>Illinois Career Education Journal</u>. 1974, 31(4), 42-4. (EJ 102 213).
- A Guide For Occupational Orientation-"The World of Work." Grades 5-7.

 Texas: Pharr-San Juan-Alamo Independent School District; and Austin, Texas: Texas Education Agency, 1971. (ED 063 473).
- Haberman, Don, Ed., and Crabtree, Jacquelyn, Ed. Samples of Career Education K-6. Units in Health, Science, Mathematics, Language Arts, Social Studies.

 Council Bluffs, Ia.: Pottawattamie County School System, 1972. (ED 095 294).
- Halcomb, Alwin H. Developing Career Education Materials For Elementary Teachers. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1973, 45(7), 152-153. (EJ 067 736).
- Harkness, Suzanne C., and Others. The Influence of Vocational Information On
 The Career Development of Elementary School Children. Manassis, Va.: Prince
 William County School Board, 1973. (ED 075 733).
- Heitzmann, Ray, and Staropoli, Chuck. Career Education In The Elementary School: A Multi-Disciplinary Approach. <u>California Council For The Social Studies Review</u>, 1974, 12(4), 27-32. (EJ 100 180).
- Introducing Children To The World Of Work. Salem, Oregon: Oregon State Dept.
 of Education, Date unlisted. (ED 052 377).
- Jackson, Ann, and Peterson, Maria. Young Children And Self-Awareness In The Work World. Teaching Exceptional Children, 1973, 5(3), 119-23. (EJ 074 338).
- Jobe, Max E. Career Education "Turns On" An Elementary School. <u>Career Education Digest</u>, 1974, 13-14. (EJ 092 309).
- K Through 12 Project In Career Development And Bridging The Gap Between School

 And Work. Final Report. Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School
 District 1, 1973. (ED 083 393).

- K-12 Career Education Guide. Sheboygan, Wis.: Lakeshore Technical Inst., Date unlisted. (ED 061 429).
- Kelly, Julia, and Gaujot, Carol. <u>Career Awareness Program; Fruth Elementary</u> School. Charleston, W. Va.: Kanawha County Schools, 1973. (ED 083 512).
- Lazzerini, Karen. Career Orientation Program. Final Report. Hartford, Conn.: East Hartford Board of Education, 1972. (ED 073 249).
- Leonard, George E., Ed. Career Guidance In The Elementary School. <u>Elementary</u> School Guidance and Counseling, 1973, 7(3), 234-237. (EJ 074 323).
- Lincoln County Exemplary Program In Vocational Education, Resource Units

 Developed By Exemplary Teachers For Grades 1-12, Volume IV of Volume I.

 Hamlin, W. Va.: Lincoln County Schools, 1972. (ED 075 611).
- Loughary, John W., and Ripley, Theresa. <u>Career Survival Skills: Focus On</u>
 <u>Affective Career Education</u>. <u>Teacher's Manual</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Charles, E.
 Merrill Publishing Co., 1974. (ED 092 718).
- Loughary, John W., and Ripley, Theresa. <u>Career Survival Skills: Focus on Affective Career Education</u>. Data Sheets To Accompany Teacher's Manual.
 Columbus, Ohio: Charles E. Merrill Publishing Co., 1974. (ED 092 719).
 - Marsh, Jim, and Others. Project Span: A Career Education Model. Tennessee Education, 1973, 3(2), 5-10. (EJ 079 317).
 - McGinley, Gerry P. World Of Work. Career Awareness Development Program
 For The Elementary Grades. Reno, Nev.: Nevada Univ., Coll. of Education,
 1972. (ED 066 605).
 - McNutt, Larry. <u>Career Education Curriculum Guideline: A Plan'Of Student Development Grades K-9</u>. Richford, Vt.: Franklin Northeast Supervisory Union, Date unlisted. (ED 094 180).
 - Meyer, Norma, Ed. The Organizing Center: An Instrument For Implementing
 Life-Centered Education. DeKalb, Ill.: Northern Illinois Univ., Able Model
 Program, 1974. (ED 094 210).
 - Moore, Allen B. <u>Career Survival Skills: Focus On Affective Career Education</u>.

 <u>Career Education Index</u>. Publisher unlisted, 1974. (ED 092 720).
 - Moskowitz, Irving. Career Resource Center: A "Pre-K to Adult" Model for Career Development. Final Report. Hackensack, N.J.: Hackensack Public Schools; and Trenton, N.J.: New Jersey State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 068 635).
 - Nannay, Robert W. Industrial Arts Leadership In Implementing The School-Based Career Education Model. Man/Society/Technology, 1973, 33(3), 75-77. (EJ 087 413).
 - Neal, William L. A Guide For Implementation Of A Career Education Program:

 Elementary Grades. Contemporary Curriculum For Career Development Series.

 Knoxville, Tenn.: Knox County Dept. of Public Instruction, Dept. of

 Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 074 289).

- Norman, Douglas, and Others. Elementary School Career Education In Tennessee. Educational and Industrial Television, 1973, 5(11), 35-38. (EJ 089 784).
- Olsen, Henry D. The Place Of Career Education In Elementary Social Studies.

 <u>California Council For The Social Studies Review</u>, 1974, 13(4), 33-36.

 (EJ 100 181).
- Olsen, Henry D. Career Awareness And Career Exploration. 1. Career Awareness: Emphasis Of Career Education In The Elementary Grades. Social Education, 1973, 37(6), 508, 510. (EJ 083 468).
- Olson, Levene A. An Evaluation Of Elementary Career Education Based On Language Achievement, Mathematics Achievement, And Occupational Awareness In Lincoln County, West Virginia. Volume V. of Volume I. Huntington, W. Va.: Marshall Univ., Dept. of Vocational-Technical Education, 1972. (ED 074 305).
- Pandolfi, Ralph R. Career Education At The Elementary School Level: Preparation For The Future. Man/Society/Technology, 1974, 33(7), 206-8. (EJ 094 264).
- Peterson, Marla, and Others. A Curriculum Design: Concepts & Components: K-6

 <u>Career Education</u>. Charleston, Ill.: Eastern Illinois Univ., Center For
 Educational Studies, 1974. (ED 086 819).
- Peterson, Marla. Occupacs: Influence On The K-6 Career Education Curriculum.

 Journal of Industrial Teacher Education, 1973, 10(3), 65-72. (EJ 081 546).
- Peterson, Marla. <u>Career Education In The Elementary School</u>. Presentation at Office of Education Vocational Association, Washington, D.C., 1972. (ED 068 714).
- Peterson, Marla. Occupacs: Simulated Career Development Experiences For Ele-Mentary School Children. <u>Business Education Forum</u>, 1972, 26(5), 6-7. (EJ 052 908).
- Picago, Stanley T., and Others. <u>Career Development-Special Education. Volume 1:</u>

 <u>Primary/Intermediate Edition K-6.</u> Eau Claire, Wis.: Eau Claire Joint School District 5, 1973. (ED 082 391).
- Pryor, Charles V. <u>Project People of Peoria: Career Awareness and Exploration.</u>
 <u>Final Report. Peoria, Ill.: Peoria School District 150, 1974. (ED 094 141).</u>
- Ryan, Charles W. Career Development Guide For The Elementary School. A

 Guidebook For Teachers And Guidance Counselors. Augusta, Maine: Maine State
 Dept. of Education, Bureau of Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 074 218.
- Sather, Greg, and Others. Career Guidance In The Elementary School. <u>Elementary</u> School Guidance and Counseling, 1973, 7(4), 287-291. (EJ 079 265).
- Schreiber, Robert W., and Black, Mabell. <u>Elementary School Curriculum Guide</u>. Raleigh, No. Car.: North Carolina State Univ., Center For Occupational Education, 1973, (ED 076 753).
- Self Awareness: Elementary Career Education Guide. Volume 1. Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1973. (ED 086 821).

- Severance, Lypn, and Smith, Judy. People At Work: Grade 3 and 4. Permanent Guide. Seattle, Wash.: KCTS-TV, Date unlisted. ED 096 493).
- Sharpe, Debera, Ed. <u>Bread and Butterflies</u> <u>A Curriculum Guide in Career</u>
 <u>Development</u>. <u>Bioomington</u>, Ind.: Agency For Instructional Television, 1974, (ED 097 920).
- Simpson, Elizabeth J., and Weisburd, Dan E. Career Awareness For Young Fry: The Kingdom Of Could Be You. Journal of Research and Development in Education, 1974, 7(3), 39-44. (EJ 100 387).
- Smith, Phyllis E., and Rost, Paul. Career Guidance In The Elementary School Elementary School Guidance and Counseling, 1973, 8(1), 50-53. (EJ.085 752).
- Snowden, Obed L., and Shoemake, R. Glenn. Elementary Programs For Career Education In Agriculture. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1973, 45 (7), 149-150, 153. (EJ 067 948).
- Stell, Mary, and Others. Career Guidance In The Elementary School Elementary School Guidance and Counseling, 1973 8(2), 126-130. (EJ 090 882)
- Talagan, Dean P. Career of the Month. Teaching Exceptional Children, 1973, 5(3), 137-40. (EJ 074 679).
- Teacher's Guide: Career Awareness; Grades 1-6. Greenwood, Miss.: Leflore County School District, 1973. (ED 089 087).
- White, Peter E., and Revello, Edward. Presenting A Planned Program Of Career:

 Information To Elementary School Children. Research and Development Series
 No. C/71-3. Augusta, ME: Maine State Dept. of Educational and Cultural
 Services, Vocational Education Research Coordinating Unit, 1973. (ED 086, 796).
- Wilson, Norean, and Esposito, James. The Development And Implementation Of An Integrated Career-Centered Curriculum For Elementary Grades One Through Six. Final Report, Fiscal Year 1971-72. Newport, Ky.: Newport Independent School, 1972. (ED 067 446).
- World of Work; Elementary School Handbook. Washington, D.C.; Dependents Schools (DOD), Pacific Area, 1972, (ED 085 498).
- World of Work Career Motivation. Curriculum Guide For Grades K-6: Ohio's

 Career Continuum Program. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Dept. of Education,
 Div. of Vocational Education, 1972: (ED 062-565).
- Yawkey, Thomas D., and Aronin, Eugene L. Communication Skills In The Primary Grades. Thrust For Education Leadership, 1972, 1(5), 35+37. (EJ 060 160).
- York, Edwin, and Others. Elementary School Learning Resources For Career Education. "Putting It All Together" For K-6 New Jersey School Media Centers and Libraries. Edison, N.J.: New Jersey Occupational Resource Center, 1973. (ED 080 713).
- Young, James M., and Others. Career Guidance In The Elementary School. Elementary School Guidance and Counseling, 1974, 8(3), 209-215. (EJ.095 852).

Middle/Junior High School

- Anderson, Lowell D. Career Education in the Activity-Based Middle School Program. Man/Society/Technology, 1973, 33(3), 69-71. (EJ 087 411).
- Baugh, Douglas S., and Martin, William E. <u>Total Career Capability for All.</u>

 A Career-Development.Program Model. Fort Wayne, Ind.: Fort Wayne Community Schools, 1970. (ED 044 719).
- Beedy, Vernon, and Others. A Prevocational and Social Adjustment Program for Educable Retarded Adolescents: A Pilot Project. Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports. Number 10. Milwaukee, Wis.: Curative Workshop of Milwaukee & Wisconsin Univ., 1971. (ED 046 041).
- The Beginnings of Career Education in the Albuquerque Public Schools, 1971-72.

 Albuquerque, N. Mex.: Albuquerque Public Schools, 1972. (ED 072 212).
- Brilhart, Barbara L. <u>Teaching Communication Skills in the Context of the World of Work: A Pikot Project</u>. Omaha, Neb.: Nebraska University, Centerfor Urban Affairs, 1969. (ED 083 656).
- Browning, Meshach. <u>Career Awareness in Foreign Language Instruction</u>. Publisher unlisted. (ED-071 519).
- Budke, Wesley E., and Woodin, Ralph J. New Approaches to Occupational Exploration in the Middle School. <u>Journal of the American Association of Teacher Educators</u>
 in Agriculture, 1971, 13(3), 1-16. (EJ 048 636).
- Bush, Donald O., and Others. Between Education and the World of Work; The Image of the World of Work. Occupational Education Program. Greeley, Colo.: Rocky Mountain Educational Lab., Inc., 1969. (ED 032, 582).
- Career Awareness Handbook: What Shall We Be? Texarkana, Ark.: Texarkana School District 7, 1973. (ED 086 790).
- Career Development Activities. Grades 5, 6, 7. Abington, Pa.: Abington School
 District, 1968. (ED 022 219).
- <u>Career Development Curriculum Guide, 1970-1973. Junior High, Seventh through</u>
 <u>Ninth Grades.</u> Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland Public Schools, 1973. (ED 089 114)
- Career Development Resource Guide, Grades 6-8. It's Time to Plan. Clarksville, Md.: Howard County Board of Education, 1971. (ED 064 493).
- Career Education Resource Bibliography: Delaware's Occupational-Vocational

 Education Model. Milford, Del.: Milford Special School District, 1972.

 (ED 073 317).
- Carlson, Clayton D. Career Education: A Maturing Concept, Second Interim Report
 of the K-12 Project in Career Development and Bridging the Gap Between School
 and Work, Watertown, South Dakota, Watertown, South Dakota: Watertown
 Independent School District 1, 1972. (ED 069 932).

- Comprehensive Vocational Guidance Program for Model Cities. Interim Report. Indianapolis, Ind.: Indianapolis Public Schools, 1972. (ED 066 584).
- "Countdown to the 70's." Occupational Information for Upper Elementary and Middle Grades. Tallahassee, Fla.: Florida State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational, Technical and Adult Education, 1971. (ED 059 364).
- Delaware's Occupational-Vocational Education Model: Career Development Learning
 Units: Middle School. Milford, Del.: Delaware State Board for Vocational'
 Education, 1972. (ED 085 557).
- Demonstration Programs of Vocational Education in South Carolina Region V,

 Interim Report and Attachments A-E. Lancaster, So. Carolina: South Carolina
 Region 5 Educational Services Center, 1971. (ED 058 408).
- Drier, Harry N., Jr. Career Development Activities Permeate Wisconsin Curriculum.

 American Vocational Journal, 1972, 47(3), 39-41. (EJ 055 662).
- Dzurenda, Joseph V. Summer School for Introduction To Vocations; A Voluntary Program Works. American Vocation Journal, 1969, 44(9), 26-27. (EJ 011 922).
- Edington, Everett D., and Conley, Howard K. <u>Career Education Handbook for Rural School Administrators</u>. University Park, N. Mex.: New Mexico State Univ., ERIC Clearinghouse on Rural Education and Small Schools, 1973. (ED 073.861).
- Fessant, John, and Kenneke, Larry J. A Delivery System for Industrial Career Exploration. American Vocational Journal, 1973, 49(9), 44-5, 48. (EJ 087 430)
- Flanagan, John C. The Plan System for Individualizing Education. East Lansing, Mich.: National Council on Measurement in Education, 1971. (ED 051 296).
- Gage, Gerald, and Walter, Janice. World of Work Project, Judson Junion High School: Evaluation Report and Attachments. Monmouth, Ore.: Oregon State

 System of Higher Education, Teaching Research Division, 1972. (ED 089 095)
- Gambino, Thomas W. Junior High: The Exploratory Years. American Vocational Journal, 1972, 47(3), 56-67. (EJ 056 575).
- Grayson, Mary: Finding Yourself: Firing the Imagination in the Middle School Years: Elements: Translating Theory into Practice, 1974, 5(5), 1-2.

 (EJ 093 944).
- Bureau of Curriculum Development, 1973. (ED 089 187).
- A Guide for Teachers of A Course in Career Exploration, Grades 8-9-10. Stillwater, Oklahoma: Oklahoma Vocational Research Coordinating Unit, 1970. (ED 049 356).
- Guide to Structure and Articulation of Occupational Education Programs (Grades 7 through 12 and Post-High School). Salem, Ore: Oregon State Dept. of Education, 1968. (ED 023 856).
- Gysbers, Norman C., and Moore, Earl J. Career Guidance: Program Content and Staff Responsibilities. American Vocational Journal, 1972, 47(3), 60-62. (Ed 055 577)

- Hamilton, Jack A., and Webster, William J. Occupational Information and the School Curriculum. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1971, 19(3), 215-219. (EJ 033 887).
- Hammond, Robert R., and Others. An Evaluation of the Effects of a Planned Career Education Program for Grades 7, 8, 9, and 10 in a Rural Area. Augusta, ME:

 Maine State Dept. of Educational and Cultural Services, Vocational Education Research Coordinating Unit; and Harrington, Maine: School Administrative District 37, 1973. (ED 087 861).
- Heilman, Cas F.; and Others. <u>Careers Oriented Relevant Education (C.O.R.E.)</u>
 Final Report. Corvallis, Ore.: Oregon State Univ., Div. of Vocational, Adult.
 and Community Coll. Education, 1972. (ED 079 485)...
- Holstein, Herbert B. Improving a Rural Area School Program with Expanded

 Vocational Education Services by Utilizing Comprehensive Career Orientation

 and Exemplary Activities. Interim Report. Hamlin, W. Va.: Lincoln County
 Schools, 1971. (ED 059 387).
- Holstein, Herbert B., and Others. <u>Career Education; A Curriculum Model and Hamlin, W. Va.: Lincoln County Schools, 1971</u> (ED 059 365).
- Hooks, Vandalyn L. <u>Guidelines for an Orientation and Exploration Career</u>
 <u>Education Program in Middle School/Junior High</u>. Publisher unlisted, 1972.
 (ED.073 318).
- Hudak, Vivian M., and Butler, F. Coit, Jr., Development and Evaluation of an Experimental Curriculum for the New Quincy (Mass.) Vocational-Technical School, Development and Tryout of a Junior High School Student Vocational Plan. Night Quarterly Technical Report. Pittsburgh, Pa.: American Institutes for Recearch, 1967. (ED 024 767).
- Intensive Vocational Services in Guidance, Counseling, Placement, and Follow-Up. Final Report. Kingwood, W. Va.: Preston County Board of Education, 1972. (ED 070 855)
- Jernigan, Frank W., Jr. Research and Development Project in Career Education.

 Final Report. Lake Charles, La.: Calcasieu Parish School System, 1973.

 (ED 089 062).
- Work; South Dakota's Exemplary Project in Career Education. Watertown, So.

 Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1972. (ED 083 454).
- Keep Careers in Mind: Middle School Career Education. Washington, D.C.: Dependent Schools (DOD), Pacific Area, 1973. (ED 086 863).
- Klaus, Mary Louise. Research and Development Project in Career Education.

 Final Report. Beckley, W. Va.: Raleigh County Board of Education; and Charleston, W. Va.: West Virginia State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 089 107).
- Language Arts: Resource Material for Teachers. Career Guidance Series,

 Curriculum Bulletin, 1966-67 Series, No. 8g. Brooklyn, N.Y.: New York

 City Board of Education, 1966. (ED 088 081).

- Lavender, John, and Ross, John. Students Chart Their Own IA Programs. School Shop, 1973, 33(4), 46-7; (EJ 089 109).
- Leonard, Rachel S. Vocational Guidance in Junior High: One School's Answer. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1969, 17(3), 221-22. (EJ 003 493).
- Letson, John W. Formulation of Models for Preparing Occupational Materials, for Pupils from Various Socio-Economic Levels in Grades Three Through Eight. Atlanta, Ga.: Atlanta Public Schools, 1969. (ED 043 063).
- Lewis, James P., and Hayes, Robert B. Use of Visual Literacy Techniques to Teach Units on Career Development to Disadvantaged Seventh Graders. Final Report. Harrisburg, Pennsylvania: Pennsylvania State Dept. of Education, Bureau of Educational Research, 1972. (ED 072 154).
- Maxwell, David, and Others. <u>Career Education: Curriculum Materials for the Disadvantaged. Information Series Number 83</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 086 792).
- McCaleb, Omer. PROJECT VIGOR; Vocational Cluster Education, Integrated and Articulated Grades 1 through 14 with Guidance Services, Occupational.

 Exploration and Work Experience Relevant to General Education. First Interim Report. Portland, Ore.: David Douglas Public Schools, 1971.

 (ED 058-418).
- McMinn, J. H., and Morris, Ken, Comps. <u>Career Education: A Handbook</u> for Program Initiation. Jackson, Miss.: Mississippi State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1972. (ED 073 288).
- Meyer, Hal R., and Trohan, John A. New Solution to an Old Problem. School Shop, 1973, 32(8), 62-63. (EJ 076 080).
- Miller, Larry, and Hinkle, Dennis. Exploratory Agriculture in Virginia.

 Agricultural Education, 1974, 46(10), 232, 237. (EJ 094 164).
- Minzy, Jack D., and LeTarte, Clyde.E. <u>Community Education: From Program to Process</u>. Midlard, Mich.: Pendell Publishing Company, 1972. (ED 095 613).
- Mitchell, Marlene, and Smith, James É. Career Education in Broward County, Florida. <u>Illinois Teacher For Contemporary Roles</u>, 1973, 16(5), 338-341. (EJ 083 727).
- Mobile County and Phenix City Research and Development' Project in Career Education. Final Report. Montgomery, Alabama: Alabama State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1973: (ED 086 870).
- Morgan, Jack S. Career Awareness and Career Exploration. 2. Career Exploration: Emphasis of Career Education in the Middle School Grades. Social Education, 1973, 37(6), 509, 511-12. (EJ 083 469).
- Morgan, Robert L., and Others. The Plan for Implementation of an Exemplary
 Occupational Education Program in a Rural Community. Raleigh, No.Car.: North
 Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1970. (ED 050 296).

- Morrison, Edward J., and Hudake Vivian M. <u>Development and Evaluation of an Experimental Curriculum for the New Quincy (Mass.) Vocational-Technical School. Fourth Quarterly Technical Report, a Vocational Guidance Plan for <u>Junior High School</u>. Pittsburgh, Pa.: American Institutes for Research, 1966. (ED 024 752).</u>
- Moskowitz, Irving. Career Resource Center: A "Pre-K to Adult" Model, for Career Development. Final Report. Trenton, N.J.: Hackensack Public Schools, New Jersey State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 068 635).
- Needham, Raymond, and Binnie, Arthur: Improving Occupational Orientation
 Programs for Junior High School Students in Metropolitan Areas: Final Report.
 Auburn, Wash.: Green River Community Coll., 1971. (ED 055 242).
- Occupational Awareness in the Urban Middle School. A Vocational Guidance Institute, September, 1969 to May, 1970. Occupational Awareness in the Urban Middle School. A Vocational Guidance Institute, September, 1970 to May, 1971. New York, N.Y.: Ford Foundation, 1971. (ED 060 481).
- Ohio's Career Continuum Program, .Career Orientation Program, Grades 7-8 for the Individual, The Occupations, and the Disciplines: Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Board of Education & Ohio State Univ., College of Education, 1972. (ED 064 515)
- Olson, LeVene A. <u>Career Development Components in Vocational Education: A Diagrammatic Model K-12</u>. Huntington, W. Va.: Marshall Univ., Dept. of Vocational-Technical Education. (ED 064 509),
- O'Neill, V. Jerome. Resource Manual for Career Development for Students,

 Teachers, and Counselors in the Chicago Public Schools. Chicago, Ill.:
 Chicago Board of Education, 1972. (ED 079 556).
- Peck, Hugh I. <u>Career Development Exemplary Project</u>, Washington, D.C. Schools, 1972-73. Final Evaluation Report. Washington, D.C.: District of Columbia, Public Schools; and Arlington, Va.: Institute for the Development of Educational Auditing, 1973. (ED 086 872).
- Perrone, Philip A. Teaching Vocational Aspects of Development in Eighth Grade:

 Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1972, 20(3), 204-9. (EJ 052 796).
- Pierce, William F. Teaching Is Doing It. New Generation, 1973, 55(1), 1-4. (EJ 083 620),
- Pierterse, Charles, World of Work. Exemplary Project in Vocational Education.

 Final Report: Peterborough; N.H.: Contoocook Valley Regional School
 District, 1973. (ED 086 787).
- Pinson, Nancy M. The Maryland Career Development Project (K-Adult): Career Exploration Workshops (Junior High). Second Progress Report. Baltimore, Maryland: Maryland State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1971. (ED 079 487).
- Pivnick, Isadore. School-Community Improvement Program, 1961-1964. Final.
 Report. San Francisco, Calif.: San Francisco Unified School Dist., 1964.
 (ED 015 995).



- Project Scarlett: A Demonstration Middle School Career Exploration Project.
 Ann Arbor, Mich.: Ann Arbor Public Schools, 1972. (ED 072 011).
- Project VIGOR: Vocational Cluster Education, Integrated and Articulated,
 Grades 1 through 14 with Guidance Services, Occupational Exploration and
 Work Experience, Relevant to General Education. Final Evaluation Report.
 Portland, Oreg.: David Douglas Public Schools; and Salem, Ore.: Oregon State
 Board of Education, Div. of Community Colleges and Career Education (DHEW),
 1972. (ED 067 511).
- Proposal for a Mobile Assisted Career Exploration Unit. Logan, Utah: Utah State Univ., 1968: (ED 042 179).
- Rangel, Robert N., Jr. "Operation Bridge" An Innovative Comprehensive Vocational Education Program for Disadvantaged Youth. Second Interim Report. Greeley, Colo.: Aims Community College, 1973. (ED 075 578).
- Riley, R. Courtney. Research and Development Project in Career Education.

 Final Report. Carson City, Nev.: Nevada State Dept. of Education, Div. of
 Vocational-Technical and Adult Education, 1973. (ED 089 016).
- Rochow, Robert J. <u>Pontiac Vocational Career Development Program. Interim</u>
 Report. Pontiac, Mich.: Pontiac City School District, 1971. (Ed. 058 413).
- Ryan, Mary K., Ed. Middle School/Junior High School Counselors' Corner.

 <u>Elementary School Guidance and Counseling</u>, 1972, 6(4), 278-282. (EJ 057 181).
- Safransky, Robert J. New Skins for New Wine. Paper presented at Annual Convention of the National Association of Secondary School Principals at Dallas, Texas, 1973. (ED 079 380).
- Scherer, R. T., and Clary, Joseph R. <u>Middle School Curriculum Guide</u>. Raleigh, N.D.: North Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 076 754).
- Shill, James F., and Others. The Career-Centered Curriculum for the Vocational Complexes in Mississippi. Final Report. Jackson, Miss.: Mississippi State Board for Vocational Education, 1973. (ED 091 605).
- Snowden, Oben L. and Shoemake, R. Glenn. Junior High Programs for Career Education in Agriculture. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1973, 45(8), 178-179. (EJ 069 485).
- Strang, Ruth. <u>Guidance and the Teaching of Reading.</u> Reading Aids Series. Newark, Del.: International Reading Association, 1969. (ED 076 965).
- A Systems Approach to Career Development. Texarkana, Arkansas: Texarkana School District 7, 1973. (E) 086 789).
- Tarrier, Randolph B., and Others. <u>Career Counseling: Prediction or Exploration.</u>
 N.Y.: City Univ. of New York; and Winston-Salem, No.Car.: North Carolina
 State Coll.; and Detroit, Mich.: Wayne State Univ., 1971. (ED 051 510).
- A Tentative Framework for Developing Comprehensive K-12 Career Education.

 Career Education, K-12--The World of Work. Austin, Texas: Texas Education Agency, 1972. (ED 067 503).

- Thetford, Mary. The Case for the Career Book in Grades Five to Eight: A Feminist View. Elementary English, 1973, 50(7), 1059-60. (EJ 087 583).
- Turkington, Keith, and Anderson, Carol. The Group Guidance Program: Career Guidance Through Group Dynamics for Secondary School Students. Volume II. Curriculum Materials. Houston, Tex.: Vocational Guidance Service, 1973. (ED 084 372).
- Ullery, J. William, and O'Brien, Robert K. <u>Testing of the Guidance Program.</u>

 <u>Project ABLE</u>; <u>Development and Evaluation of an Experimental Curriculum for the New Quincy (Mass.) Vocational-Technical School</u>. Pittsburgh, Pa.: American Institutes for Research; and Quincy, Mass.: Quincy Public Schools, 1970. (ED 048 487).
- Vocational Development in Grades Seven, Eight and Nine. A Resource Guide

 Integrating Selected Vocational Development Concepts with Eight Areas of the
 Curriculum in Grades Seven, Eight and Nine. Albany, N.Y.: 1) New York State
 Education Dept., 2) New York State Lept. of Labor, Div. of Employment; and
 Beacon, N.Y.: Mid-Hudson Industrial Association. Date not indicated (ED 065-666).
- Williams, Thelma M. Implementation of the Career Guidance Curriculum and Teacher Training. Evaluation of New York City Title I Educational Projects, 1966-67. Final Report. New York, N.Y.: Center for Urban Education, Committee on Field Research and Evaluation, 1967. (ED 025 475).
- Wilson, Eugene H. A Task Oriented Course in Decision-Making. Information System for Vocational Decisions, Project Report Number 7. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Univ., 1967. (ED 014 119).
- World of Work: Grade Nine. Teacher's Guide for the School Year 1967-1968.
 Minneapolis, Minn.: Minneapolis Public Schools, 1968. (ED 031 723).
- Youst, David B. A Comprehensive Micro-Image File for Occupational Information:
 Final Report. Rochester, N.Y.: Rochester City School District, 1970.

 (ED 047 335).

Secondary School

- Agan, Raymond J. The Development and Demonstration of A Coordinated and Integrated Program of Occupational Information, Selection, and Preparation in a Secondary School. Final Report. Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas State Univ., 1968. (ED 022 961).
- Albracht, James, and Others. <u>Using Existing Vocational Programs for Providing Exploratory Experiences</u>. Carrollton; Ga.: West Georgia Coll., 1968. (ED 027 432).
- Allen, Thomas R., Jr. Cooperative Vocational Education Coordinator's Handbook.

 Volume I. Huntington, W. Va.: Marshall Univ., Dept. of Vocational-Technical Education, 1972. (ED 063 504).
- An Evaluation of the Developmental Vocational Education Program. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland Public Schools, Div. of Research and Development. Date not indicated. (ED 074 302).
- Beedy, Vernon, and Others. A Prevocational and Social Adjustment Program for Educable Retarded Adolescents: A Pilot Project. Milwaukee Media for Rehabilitation Research Reports. Number 10. Milwaukee, Wis.: Curative Workshop of Milwaukee, Wisconsin Univ., 1971. (ED 046 041).
- Boeser, Robert, and Others. <u>Work Experience Program Curriculum Guide</u>. Bloomington, Minn.; Bloomington Public Schools, 1970. (ED 062 313).
- Bohn, Martin J., and Others. The Educational and Career Exploration System:

 Field Trial and Evaluation. Washington, D.C.: American Educational Research
 Association; and New York: Columbia Univ., N.Y. Teachers College, 1970.

 (ED 038 661).
- Career Development Curriculum Guide, 1970-1973. Senior High, Tenth through
 Twelfth Grades. Cleveland, Ohio: Cleveland Public Schools, 1973; (ED 089 115)
- Career Development in Nevada. Carson City, Nev.: Nevada State Dept. of Education, 1973. (ED 078 207).
- Career Education. A Plan for Implementation in Utah. Salt Lake City, Utah: Utah State Board of Education, 1972. (ED 094 225).
- Career Education (Alabama). Montgomery, Ala.: Alabama State Dept. of Education, 1972. (ED 075 662).
- Career Guidance Through Groups. A Job Placement and Group Vocational Guidance
 Program for High School Youth. Phase II July 1, 1969 Through August 15, 1970
 Houston, Texas.: Vocational Guidance Service, 1970. (ED 050 362).
- Carlson, Clayton D. <u>Career Education: A Maturing Concept.</u> <u>Second Interim</u>

 <u>Report of the K-12 Project in Career Development and Bridging the Gap Between School and Work, Watertown, South Dakota. Watertown, S. Dak.: Watertown Independent School District 1, 1972. (ED 069 932).</u>
- Carney, Clarke G. A Career Development Workshop for Emotionally Disadvantaged

 Students. Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas State Univ., Center for Student Development, 1972. (ED 072 367).

- Carr, Ralph T. <u>Project Women--In a Man's World of Work, Final Report</u>. Hexmon, Maine: Hermon School Dept. Date not indicated. (ED 074 212).
- Carr, Ralph T., and Others. <u>Project Women: In a Man's World of Work: A Guide</u> for School Counselors. Hermon, Maine: Hermon School Dept., 1972. (ED 074 216).
- Channels, Vera Y., and Kupsinel, Penelope E. <u>Career Education in Home Economics</u>.
 (Danville, Ill.: Interstate Printers & Publishers, 1973. (ED 091 529).
- Comprehensive Vocational Guidance Program for Model Cities. Interim Report.
 Indianapolis, Ind.: Indianapolis Public Schools, 1972. (ED 066 584).
- A Contract to Encourage Full Utilization of Educational Talent. Final Report

 1968-1969. Las Vegas, N.M.: New Mexico Council for the Development of
 Educational Talent, 1969. (ED 048 951).
- Counseling the Technically-Oriented Student. Big Rapids, Mich.: Ferris State Coll., 1967. (ED 020 531).
- Crawford, Fred L. Career Planning for the Blind. A Manual for Students and Teachers. Winnetka, Ill.: Hadley School for the Blind, 1966. (ED 065 667).
- Cunha, Joseph E., Ed., and Others. Career Development: A California Model for Career Guidance Curriculum K-Adult. California Personnel and Guidance Association Monograph Number 5. Sacramento, Calif.: California State Dept. of Education, Bureau of Pupil Personnel Services, 1972. (ED 075 672).
- Davidson, George T., Jr., One Approach to Career Development. Agricultural .Education Magazine, 1972, 45(3), 57, 66. (EJ 061 773).
- Demonstration Programs of Attional Education in South Carolina Region V,

 Interim Report and Attachments A-E. Lancaster, So. Carolina: South Carolina
 Region 5 Educational Services Center, 1971. (ED 058,408).
- A Demonstration System of Occupational Information for Career Guidance. Final Report. Albany, N.Y.: State Univ. of New York, Bureau of Occupational Education Research, 1968. (ED 024 838).
- <u>Preparatory Oriented High School. Final Report. Part I: Curriculum Development.</u> Rockville, Md.: Montgomery County Public Schools, 1973. (ED 084 377).
- Drier, Harry N., Jr. Career Development Activities Permeate Wisconsin Curriculum.

 <u>American Vocational Journal</u>, 1972, 47(3), 39-41. (EJ 055 662).
- Duckat, Walter. A Guide to Professional Careers. New York, N.Y.: Julian Messner, a Division of Simon & Shuster, 1970. (ED 091 540).
- Dunn, James A. The Guidance Program in the PLAN System of Individualized Education. Palo Alto, Calif.: American Institutes for Research in the Behavioral Sciences, 1972. (ED 072 258).
- Durstine, Richard M. Suggestions for Treatment of Information About Occupations.

 Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard Univ., Graduate School of Education, 1966. (ED 062 650).

- Edington, Everett D., and Conley, Howard K. Career Education Handbook for Rural School Administrators. University Park, N. Mex.: New Mexico State Univ., ERIC Clearinghouse on Rural Education and Small Schools, 1973. (ED 073 861).
- Engelhardt, David F. <u>Programs for Occupational Education for Grades 9-12 at Milford, Massachusetts</u>. Purdy Station, N.Y.: Engelhardt and Engelhardt, 1972. (ED 086 834).
- Experimental Summer Program for High School Seniors and Faculty. San Francisco, Calif.: City College of San Francisco, 1967. (ED 017 253).
- Fessant, John, and Kenneke, Larry J. A Delivery System for Industrial Career Exploration. American Vocational Journal, 1973, 49(9), 44-5, 48. (EJ 087 430).
- Montana Educational Programs. Paper prepared for American Personnel and Guidance Association Convention at Reno, Nevada, 1969. (ED 043, 416).
 - Flanagan, John C. The Plan System for Individualizing Education. East Lansing, Mich.: National Council on Measurement in Education, 1971. (ED 051 296).
- Forward Plan for Career Education Research and Development. Draft for Discussion.

 Washington, D.C.: National Inst. of Education (DHEW), Career Education Task
 Force, 1973. (ED 076 849).
- Friedman, Simon. B., and Soloff, Asher. A Vocational Development Program for Emotionally Disturbed Adolescents. Chicago, Ill.: Jewish Vocational Servand Employ. Ctr., 1966. (ED 011 121).
- for Use with the Educational and Career Exploration System (ECES). Plint Mich.: Genesee Intermediate School District, 1972. (ED 084 431).
- A Guide for Teachers of A Course in Career Exploration, Grades 8-9-10.
 Stillwater, Oklahoma: Oklahoma Vocational Research Coordinating Unit, 1970.
 (ED 049-356).
- Guide to Structure and Articulation of Occupational Education Programs (Grades 7 through 12 and Post-High School). Salém, Ore.: Oregon State Dept. of Education, Div. of Community Colleges and Vocational Education, 1968. (ED 023 856)
- Hammond, Robert R., and Others. An Evaluation of the Effects of a Planned

 Career Education Program for Grades 7, 8, 9, and 10 in a Rural Area. Augusta,
 Maine: Maine State Dept. of Educational and Cultural Services, Vocational
 Education Research Coordinating Unit; and Harrington, Maine: School Administrative District 37, 1973. (ED 087 861).
- Handbook for the ACT Career Planning Program. Iowa City, Iowa: American Coll. Testing Program, Research and Development Div., 1972. (ED 078 128).
- Hawke Sharryl. Careers in Social Studies. Profiles of Promise 28. Boulder, Colo.: ERIC Clearinghouse for Social Studies/Social Science Education, Social Science Education Consortium, Inc., 1974. (ED 091 285)

- Hilton, Thomas L. <u>Vocational Development Interview Schedule--Form A.</u>
 Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Agency, 1971. (ED 056 099).
- Hilton, Thomas L. <u>Vocational Development Interview Schedule--Form C.</u> Princeton, N.J.: Educational Testing Agency, 1971. (ED 056 100).
- Holland, John L., and Others. A Guide to the Self-Directed Career Program: A

 Practical and Inexpensive Vocational Guidance System. Baltimore, Md.: Johns
 Hopkins Univ., Center for the Study of Social Organization of Schools, 1972.

 (ED 064 516).
- Holstein, Herbert B. Improving a Rural Area School Program with Expanded Vocational Education Services by Utilizing Comprehensive Career Orientation and Exemplary Activities. Interim Report. Hamlin, W.Va.: Lincoln County Schools, 1971 (ED 059 387).
- Holstein, Herbert B., and Others. Career Education; A Curriculum Model and Strategies for Implementation. Hamlin, W. Va. Lincoln County Schools, 1971. (ED 059 365).
- Hoyt, Kenneth B., and Wollard, G. G. High School Curriculum Guide. Raleigh, N.C.: North Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 076 755).
- Huntsburger, Steve, and Others. An Evaluation of the Indiana Career Resource Center. Research and Evaluation Report Series Number 1. South Bend, Ind.: Indiana Univ., Indiana Career Resource Center, 1972. (ED 070 982).
- <u>Intensive Vocational Services in Guidance, Counseling, Placement, and Follow-Up. Final Report.</u> Kingwood, W. Va.: Preston County Board of Education, 1972. (ED 070 855).
- Janssen, Peter A. Skyline: The School With Something for Everyone. Saturdax (Review: Education, 1972, 55(46), 37-40. (EJ 067 233).
- Jernigan, Frank W., Jr. <u>Research and Development Project in Career Education</u>
 <u>Final Report</u>. Lake Charles, La.: Calcasieu Parish School System, 1973.
 (ED 089 062).
- Jones, G. Brian, and Others. <u>Development and Evaluation of a Comprehensive Career Guidance System. Final Report.</u> Palo Alto, Calif.: American Institutes for Research in the Behavioral Sciences, 1971. (ED 055 310).
- Kapisovsky, Peggy. Library Sources for Students Investigating Technical Education Programs. Technical Education Reporter, 1974, 1(1), 100-5, (EJ 097 425).
- Klaus, Mary Louise. Research and Development Project in Career Education.

 Final Report. Beckley, W. Va.: Raleigh County Board of Education; and
 Charleston, W. Va.: West Virginia State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational
 and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 089 107).
- Kosuth, Joan, and Miltenberger, Jerry. Teaching for Career Decision-Making.
 Tustin, Califa: Diversified Counseling Services, 1972. (ED 063 547).
- Kraft, Richard H. P. <u>Perspectives on Progress: Career Education in Florida;</u>

 Statewide Evaluation of Vocational-Technical Education 1970-1971. Tailahassee Fla.: Florida State Univ., Dept. of Educational Administration, 1971. (ED 056 235).



- Krueck, Thomas G., and Denton, William T. <u>Product Evaluation at the Career Development Center.</u> 1971-72 Final Report. Dallas, Tex.: Dallas Independent School District, 1972. (ED 075 574).
- Krumboltz, John D. <u>Vocational Problem-Solving Experiences for Stimulating Career Exploration and Interest, Phase II. Mid-Project Report, December 1, 1966-April 30, 1967.</u> Calif.: Stanford Univ., School of Education, 1967. (ED 016 265).
- Krumboltz, John D., and Others. <u>Vocational Problem-Solving Experiences</u>

 <u>for Stimulating Career Exploration and Interest. Final Report.</u>

 Calif.: Stanford Univ., School of Education, 1967. (ED 015 517).
- LeBold, William K. An Aptitude Search Program for High School Students. Engineering Education, 1974, 64(7), 507-509, 535. (EJ 098 480).
- MacKenzie, John C., and Manuel, Phil A. <u>Career Development and Planning</u>.

 Paper presented at the OSCA conference at Sudbury, Ontario, Canada, 1971.

 (ED 073 400).
- Maley, Donald. An Investigation and Development of the Cluster Concept as A

 Program in Vocational Education at the Secondary School Level--Final Report,

 Phase 1. College Park, Maryland: University of Maryland, 1966. (ED 010 301).
- Maley, Donald. Construction Cluster--An Investigation and Development of the Cluster Concept as A Program in Vocational Education at the Secondary School Level. College Park, Maryland: University of Maryland, 1966. (ED 010 302).
- Maley, Donald. Electromechanical Installation and Repair Cluster—An Investigation and Development of the Cluster Concept as A Program in Vocational Education at the Secondary School Level. College Park, Maryland: University of Maryland, 1966. (ED 010 303).
- Maley, Donald. Metal Forming and Fabrication Cluster—An Investigation and Development of the Cluster Concept as A Program in Vocational Education at the Secondary Level. College Park, Maryland: University of Maryland, 1966. (ED 010 304).
- Markowitz, Alan, and Haley, Frances. Interim: Not a Time for Rest. Profiles of Promise 9 (With Appendices). Boulder, Colo.: ERIC Clearinghouse for Social Studies/Social Science Education & Social Science Education Consortium, Inc., 1973. (ED 084 197)
- Marsh, Jim, and Others. Project Span: A Career Education Model. Tennessee Education, 1973, 3(2), 5-10. (EJ 079 317).
- Martin, Ann M. A Multimedia Approach to Communicating Occupational Information to Noncollege Youth. Technical Report. Pittsburgh, Pa.: Pittsburgh Univ.,. 1967. (ED 026 544).
- Maxwell, David, and Others. <u>Career Education: Curriculum Materials for the Disadvantaged</u>. <u>Information Series Number 83</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 086 792).
- McCaleb Domer. PROJECT VIGOR; Vocational Cluster Education; Integrated and Articulated Grades 1 through 14 with Guidance Services, Occupational Exploration and Work Experience Relevant to General Education. First Interim Report. Portland, Ore: David Douglas Public Schools, 1971. (ED 058 418).

- McMinn, J. H., and Morris, Ken, Comps. <u>Career Education: A Handbook for Program Initiation.</u> Jackson, Miss.: <u>Mississippi State Dept. of Education</u>, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1972. (ED 073 288).
- Mead, Martha L. A Suggested Approach to a School-Based Model of Career Education. Thrust for Education Leadership, 1973, 2(4), 38-40. (EJ 070 956).
- Miller, Carroll H. A Pilot Project for Vocational Guidance in Economically Underdeveloped Areas. Springfield, Ill.: Illinois State Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, Dept. of Guidance Services, 1968. (ED 026 527).
- Mitchell, Martene, and Smith, James E. Career Education in Broward County, Florida. <u>Illinois Teacher for Contemporary Roles</u>, 1973, 16(5), 338-341, (EJ 083 727).
- Mobile County and Phenix City Research and Development Project in Career Education. Final Report. Montgomery, Ala.: Alabama State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1973. (ED 086 870).
- Morgan, Robert L., and Others. The Plan for Implementation of an Exemplary Occupational Education Program in a Rural Community. Raleigh, No. Car.:

 North Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1970.

 (ED 050 296).
- Morrissey, Jim, and Waity, Charles. <u>Madison Public Schools</u>. <u>La Follette</u>

 <u>Careers Program. Tenth Grade Social Studies Guide</u>. Publisher unlisted,

 1969. (ED 085 280).
- Moskowitz, Irving. Career Resource Center: A "Pre-K to Adult" Model for Career Development. Final Report. Trenton, N.J.: Hackensack Public Schools, New Jersey State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 068 635):
- Nelson, Howard F. <u>Project MINI-SCORE Final Report</u>. Minneapolis, Minn.: Minnesota Univ., Dept. of Trade and Industrial Education, 1972. (ED 068 638)
- A Newspaper Career and You. Princeton, N.J.: Newspaper Fund, Inc., 1974.
 (ED 091 695).
- Nichols, Roger S. A Card Index for Vocational Schools and Courses School Counselor, 1969, 17(2), 98. (EJ 011 165).
- Olson, KeVene A. <u>Career Development Components in Vocational Education: Á</u>
 <u>Diagrammatic Model K-12</u>. Huntington, W. Va.: Marshall Univ., Dept. of Vocational-Technical Education. (ED 064 509).
- O'Neill, V. Jerome: Resource Manual for Career Davelopment for Students, <u>Teachers</u>, and Counselors in the Chicago Public Schools. Chicago, Ill.: Chicago Board of Education, 1972. (ED 079 556).
- One Way (Texas Style) to Prepare Students for Careers. Elements of Technology, 1973, 4(4), 23. (EJ 090 740).

- Oregon Graduation Requirements: Models and Guidelines for Personal Development

 Education. Section II. Salem, Ore.: Oregon State Dept. of Education,

 1973. (ED 085 865).
- Oregon Graduation Requirements: Models and Guidelines for Career Development

 Education. Section IV. Salem, Ore.: Oregon State Dept. of Education, 1973.

 (ED 085 867).
- Phillips, P. Bertrand, and Others. How High School Counselors Can Assist
 Students to Successfully Enter Government and Industry, Workshop on
 Vocational and Occupational Guidance in the Sixties and Seventies (May 8-9, 1964). Tuskegee, Ala:: Tuskegee Inst. 1964. (ED 015 250).
- Pierce, William F. Teaching Is Doing It. New Generation, 1973, 55(1), 1-4.
 (EJ 083 620).
- Pierterse, Charles. World of Work. Exemplary Project in Vocational Education:

 Final Report. Peterborough, N.H.: Contoocook Valley Regional School District,
 1973. (ED 086 787).
- Pivnick, Isadore. School-Community Improvement Program, 1961-1964. Final Report. San Francisco, Calif.: San Francisco Unified School Dist., 1964. (ED.015 995).
- Powell, Phillip E. Implementing the Manpower and Economic Education Program.

 Arkadelphia, Ark.: Henderson State College, M. H. Russell Center for Economics Education, 1970. (ED 045 472).
- Project Inspire: Vocational Guidance Institute. Hartford, Conn.: Greater Hartford Chamber of Commerce; West Hartford, Conn.: Hartford Univ.; Washington, D.C.: National Alliance of Businessmen, 1971: (ED 052 472).
- Project VIGOR: Vocational Cluster Education, Integrated and Articulated,
 Grades I through 14 with Guidance Services, Occupational Exploration and Work
 Experience, Relevant to General Education. Final Evaluation Report.
 Portland, Ore.: David Douglas Public Schools; and Salem, Ore.: Oregon State
 Board of Education, Div. of Community Colleges and Career Education, 1972.
 (ED 067 511).
- Project You: 6470.42. Miami, Bla.: Dade County Public Schools, 1971. (ED 070 970).
- Rangel, Robert N., Jr Operation Bridge An Innovative Comprehensive Vocational Education Frogram for Disadvantaged Youth. Second Interim Report Greely, Colo.: Aims Community Coll., 1973. (ED 075 578).
- Research and Development Project in Career Education. Volume I: Final Report.

 Helena, Mont. Montana State Dept. of Public Instruction, Div. of Vocational and Occupational Skills, 1973. (ED 089-118).
- Research in Developing a Program in Basic Vocational Studies. Final Report.
 Wellsburg, W. Va.: Brooke County Board of Education, 1972. (ED 072 235).
- Research Model for Levels Nine and Ten: Lincoln County School Based Model for Career Education, Volume, III of Volume I. Hamlin, W. Va.; Lincoln County Schools, 1972. (ED 075.613)

- Riley, R. Courtney. Research and Development Project in Career Education.

 Final Report. Carson City, Nev.: Nevada State Depts of Education, Div. of
 Vocational-Technical and Adult Education, 1973. (ED 089 016).
- Rochow, Robert J. <u>Pontiac Vocational Career Development Program. Interim</u>
 Report. Pontiac, Mich.: Pontiac City School District, 1971. (ED 058 413).
- Rupley, Penny J. Curriculum Guide: Career Exploration in Art Related Areas.

 Paper prepared for a graduate art course, University of Illinois at

 "Urbana-Champaign, 1979. (ED 084 548)."
- Scarpitto, Michael. High School Counseling for Technical Education. Technical Education Reporter, 1974, 1(1), 90-1. (EJ 097 422).
- Shertzer, Bruce. Teachers: Guide to Group Vocational Guidance. Cambridge, Mass: Bellman Publishing Company, 1971. (ED 068 695).
- Shill, James F., and Others. The Career-Centered Curriculum for the Vocational Complexes in Mississippi. Final Report. Jackson, Mississippi State Board for Vocational Education, 1973. (ED 091 605).
- South Umpqua Experimental Schools Project: The Basic Four Year Plan; Person-Centered Educational-Processes. Myrtle Creek, Ore.: South Umpqua School District, 1973. (ED 076 257).
- Speedie, Stuart M. Elements of Computer Careers. AEDS Monitor, 1973; 12(4), 14, 15, 18. (EJ 087 911).
- Stromsdorfer, Ernst W. An Ecohomic Analysis of the Work Experience and Career Exploration Program: 1971-1972 School Year. Final Report. Bloomington, Ind.: Indiana Univ., Dept. of Economics, 1973. (ED-080 790).
- Sturges, Jack C. Assisting Vocational Development Through a Unit in Civics: A Comparison of Two Techniques. New Orleans, La.: Educational Systems

 Development Corp., 1969. (ED 036-845):
- A Tentative Framework for Developing Comprehensive K-12 Career Education.

 Career Education, K-12-The World of Work. Austin, Texas: Texas Education Agency, 1972. (ED 067 503):
- Turkington, Keith, and Anderson, Carol. The Group Guidance Program: Career Guidance Through Croup Dynamics For Secondary School Students. Volume II. Curriculum Materials: Houston, Tex.: Vocational Guidance Service, 1973. (ED 084 372):
- Unifying a Career Development Theme in the Curriculum Through Teacher In-Service

 Activities. Final Report: Models for Secondary Career Education in Iowa.

 Final Report: Final Report Addendum. Des Moines, Ia.: Iowa State Dept. of
 Public Instruction, Div. of Career Education, 1973. (ED 084 409).
- Wilson, David A. <u>Personnel Implications of New Technological Developments:</u>

 <u>Undersea Technologies</u>. San Diego, Calif.: Naval Personnel Research Activity,

 1969. (ED 054 313):

- Woolschlager, Ruth B. <u>Business Education for the Seventies</u>. Springfield, Ill.: Illinois State Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1972. (ED 094 204).
- Work-Experience Program 8769. (Outlook for the Future). Course Outline. Miamis Fla.: Dade County Public Schools, 1971. (ED 070 013).
- Ziel, Henry R. Man, Science, Technology: An Educational Program. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada: I.D.B. Press, 1971. (ED 074 240).

- Adams, Glenn A. 'Preventative' Career Counseling-proving that it. Works. Journal of College Placement, 1974, 34(3), 26-33. (EJ 095 881).
- Adicks, Richard. Career Planning in Freshman English. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the National Council of Teachers of English, 1973. (ED 089 340).
- Adult Referral and Information Service in Education (ARISE). Final Report.

 Providence, R.I.: Providence Public Schools, 1970. (ED 061 479).
- Alleń, Thomas R., Jr. Cooperative Vocational Education Coordinator's Handbook.

 Valume I. Huntington, W. Va.: Marshall Univ., Dept. of Vocational-Technical Education, 1972. (ED 063 504).
- Anderson, Dale G., and Binnier, Arthur A. Effects of a Group Vocational Guidance Class with College Community Students. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1971, 20(2), 123-128. (EJ 048 369).
- Baugh, Douglas S., and Martin, William E. <u>Total Career Capability for All</u>.

 <u>A.Career-Development Program Model</u>. Fort Wayne, Ind.: Fort Wayne Community' Schools, 1970. (ED 044 719).
- Bennett, Robert L. <u>Career Education Planning for the 1970s and 1980s</u>. <u>Planning Report Number 1</u>. San Mateo, Calif.: San Mateo Junior Coll. District, 1973.
- Bottoms, James E., and Otte, Frederick L.. <u>Developing a Program of Student Personnel Services for Area Vocational Technical Schools. Final Report.</u>

 <u>Volumes I and II.</u> Atlanta, Ga.: Georgia State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education; and Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1968. (ED 027 435).
- Brod, Pearl, and Brod, Nathan. Placement Counseling: Focus on the Community College. Journal of Employment Counseling, 1974, 11(1), 32-36. (EJ 094 339)
- Burns, Donald C. Community Career Development Center. Community and Junior College Journal, 1974, 44(8), 11-3. (EJ 096 647).
- Camp, Norman C. Kittrell College Systems Approach. Community and Junior College Journal, 1974, 44(7), 16-7. (EJ 096 656).
- Carney, Clarke G. A Career Development Workshop for Emotionally Disadvantaged Students. Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas State Univ., Center for Student Development, 1972. (ED 072,367).
- Christensen, Kathleen C., and Sedlacek, William E. Diagnostic Use of Holland's Self-Directed Search. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1974, 22(3), 214-217. (EJ 094 322).
- Collings, Kent J. The Second Time Around: Finding a Civilian Career in Mid-Life: Cranston, R.I.: The Carroll Press, 1971. (ED 057 323).
- Cunha, Joseph E., Ed., and Others Career Development: A California Model for Career Guidance Curriculum K-Adult: California Personnel and Guidance.

 Association Monograph Number 5: Sacramento, Calif.: California State Dept. of Education, Bureau of Pupil Personnel Services, 1972. (ED 075 672).

- Danielson, Milton G., and Others. A Verified Vocational Counseling Model.
 Publisher unlisted, 1973. (ED 087 958).
- Davidshofer, Charles O. Career Development Groups: Why We Did It! Ft. Collins, 'Colo: Colorado State Univ., 1973. (ED 075 730).
- De Bernardis, Amo. What Career Education Means for the Community College. Community and Junior College Journal, 1973, 43(8), 9-11, 42. (EJ 075 995).
- Del Prete, Richard P., and Twining, Peter P. Value Development Employment Module Publisher unlisted, 1973. (ED 091 645).
- A Demonstration System of Occupational Information for Career Guidance. Final Report. Albany, N.Y.: State Univ. of New York, Bureau of Occupational Education Research, 1968. (ED 024 838).
- District Plan for Vocational Education, 1973-1978. Los Angeles, Calif.:
 Los Angeles Community Coll. District, Calif. Div. of Educational Planning and Development, 1973. (ED 085 047).
- Emanuel, Bruce W. Expanding Educational Opportunities-The One Year Occupational Program. Agricultural Education Magazine, 1972, 45(6), 123-124. .

 (EJ 067,944).
- The Exploratory Year: A Description & an Evaluation. Greenfield, Mass.; Greenfield Community, Coll., 1973. (ED 085 055).
- Flowers, Sue H. A Project to Demonstrate the Effectiveness of Unstructured Group Counseling in Developing in Disabled Persons Insights and Positive Aid in the Employment of Hard-To-Place Rehabilitation Clients. Research Brief. Baltimore, Maryland: Maryland State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Rehabilitation, 1970. (ED 044 750).
- Fulton, George P., and Morrison, Rees. Share It--You'll Like It. Journal' of College Placement, 1974, 34(3), 44-48. (EJ 095 883).
- Gordon, Edmund W.; and Others. <u>Independent Evaluation of the Adult Basic</u>

 Education Career Dévelopment Center in the Newark Model Cities Area. New
 York, N.Y.: Columbia Univ., Teachers College, 1974. (ED 087 848).
- Healy Charles Career Counseling in the Community College. Los Angeles, Galif: University of California at Los Angeles, ERIC Clearinghouse for Junior Coll. Information, 1974. (ED 094 813).
- Healy, Charles C. Toward a Replicable Method of Group Career Counseling. Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1973, 21(3), 214-221. (EJ 074 205):
- Holland, John L., and Others... A Guide to the Self-Directed Career Program:

 A. Practical and Inexpensive Vocational Guidance System. Baltimore, Md.:

 Johns Hopkins Univ., Center for the Study of Social Organization of Schools.

 1972. (ED 064 516).
- Home Economics in Colleges and Universities. Washington, D.C.: National Education Assn., 1968. (ED 021 133).

- Kilpatrick, Gordon. Choosing an Occupational Wisely--A Proposal to Take the Guesswork Out of Future Vocational Guidance. Publisher unlisted, 1968.

 (ED 020.718).
- Kisker, Harry E. The Adventures of Career Man! <u>Journal of College Placement</u>, 1974, 34(4), 73-79. (EJ 099 027).
- Matthews, Eather E. <u>Personalizing Occupational Freedom for Girls and Women</u>. Eugene, Ore.: Oregon Univ.; and New Brunswick, W.J.: Rutgers, The State Univ., 1970. (ED 075.734).
- Matthews, Esther E. The Counselor and the Adult Woman. <u>Journal of the National Association of Women Deans and Counselors</u>, 1969, 32(3), 115-22. (EJ 003 488).
- Maxwell, David, and Others. <u>Career Education: Curriculum Materials for the Disadvantaged.</u> <u>Information Series Number 83</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED. 086 792).
- McCaleb, Omer. PROJECT VIGOR: Vocational Cluster Education, Integrated and Articulated Grades 1 through:14 with Guidance Services, Occupational Exploration and Work Experience Relevant to General Education. First Linterim Report: Portland, Ore.: David Douglas Public Schools, 1971.
- McGuffey, C. W., and Others. Educational Planning for the Future Development of Pasco-Hernando Community College. Athens, Ga.: Educational Consultants, Inc., 1973. (ED 088 541).
- Miller, Carroll H. A Pilot Project for Vocational Guidance in Economically Underdeveloped Areas. Springfield, Ill.: Illinois State Office of the Superintendent of Public Instruction, Dept. of Guidance Services, 1968. (ED 026 527).
- Mitchell, Marlene, and Smith, James E. Career Education in Broward County, Florida. Triinis Teacher For Contemporary Roles, 1973, 16(5), 338(341. (E& 083.727).
- Morgan, Don A., Ed. The Two Year, College Student: Activities and Careers. Rochester, Minn.: Minnesota Univ. Rochester Center, 1973. (ED 089 825)
- Moskowitz, Irving: Career Resource Center: A "Pre-K to Adult" Model for Career Development. Final Report: Hackensack, Nr.J.: Hackensack Public Schools; and Trenton, N.J.: New Jersey State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational Education, 1972: (ED 068-635).
- Musso, Barbara Bonner. Orienting Students to the Field of Education.

 Improving College and University Teaching, 1974, 22(1), 35-37. (EJ 094 722).
- Myers, Roger A. Career Development in the College Years. Journal of College Placement, 1972, 32(3), 59-63, (EJ 058-687).
- Wers, Roger A. Career Development in the College Years. New York, N.Y. Columbia Univ., Teachers College, 1971. (ED 050 372)

- Navin, Sally. Future Planning of College Women: Counseling Implications.

 <u>Vocational Guidance Quarterly</u>, 1972, 21(4), 12-17. (EJ 062 970).
- New York State Advisory Council on Vocational Education Third Annual Report,
 Fiscal Year 1972. Albany, N.Y.: New York State Advisory Council on
 Vocational Education, 1972. (ED 080 667).
- Pierce, Robin. Careers on the Computer. American Education, 1972, 8(7), 31-5. (EJ 064 337).
- A Pilot Program to Provide Mentally Restored Young People (Ages 18-30 Years Old)
 with Skills, Knowledge, and Motivation Required to Pursue a College Level
 Vocational Education Program. Final Report-Termination of Program.
 Rochester, F. C.: Monroe Community Coll., Office for Continuing Education,
 1973. (ED 084) 341).
- Programs, Problems and Needs in Women's Continuing Education; Proceedings of a Statewide Conference for Institutions of Higher Education, Community and Government Representatives (Seattle, Washington, November 8, 1968). Seattle, Wash: Washington Univ., Office of Women's Continuing Education, 1968. (ED 032 456).
- Quittenton, R.C. Career Oriented Education. Canadian Vocational Journal, 1970, 6(4), 4-11. (EJ 032 014).
- Richardville, Jerry, and Others. A. Decision-Making System for the Cureur Information Center at Tallahassee Community College. Paper submitted in Course 553, Florida State University, 1972. (ED 082 725).
- Rinehard, Richard L. Articulating Career Education at Associate-Degree and Baccalaureate-Degree Levels. New Directions for Community Colleges, 1973, 1(4), 93-103. (EJ 098 243).
- Robb, Felix C. The Three P's: Preparation, Placement, and Performance.

 <u>Journal of College Placement</u>, 1971, 31(3), 28-34. (EJ 035 240).
- Rosen, Lynn. A Proposal for a Developmental Environment. Warrensville Township, Ohio: Cuyahoga Community Coll., Eastern Campus, 1974. (ED 093 391).
- Ryan, Maurice E. A Niche for the Community College in Career Education.

 <u>American Vocational Journal</u>, 1974, 49(5), 40, 42. (EJ 097 433).
- Schultz, Judith M. Environmental Technology in a 2-Year College. <u>Journal</u> of Environmental Education, 1973, 4(3), 52-7. (EJ 080 881).
- Shill, James F., and Others. The Career-Centered Curriculum for the Vocational Complexes in Mississippi. Final Report. Jackson, Miss.: Mississippi State Board for Vocational Education, 1973. (ED 091 605).
- Skaggs, Kenneth G., and Menefee, Selden, Eds. Career Curriculum Building
 in the Community College: Selected Proceedings of Two Workshops: Central
 Piedmont Community College (Charlotte, N.C., March 23-25, 1972) and
 Community College of Denver (Denver, Colo., May 4-6, 1972). Washington, D.C.:
 American Association of Junior Colleges, 1972. (ED 083 432).

- Talent Search Project, Eastern Arizona College. Progress Report (January 1, 1969 March 31, 1969). Thatcher, Ariz.: Eastern Arizona Coll., Talent Search Project, 1969. (ED 033 818).
- Trout, Robert W., Sr. CGP--After One Year. American Vocational Journal, 1971, 46(7), 25-27. (EJ 044 178).
- Wyant, June F. The Librarian and Career Planning. Special Libraries, 1974, 65(4), 176-9. (EJ 098 218).
- Zwerling, S. The "Disadvantaged": Unemployable Or Just Unemployed? A Report on Training for University Employment. Berkeley, Calif.: Univ. of California, Space Sciences Lab., 1968. (ED 029 254).

Appendix A. 3

PROGRAM ORGANIZATION, ADMINISTRATION, AND EVALUATION

- Agan, Raymond J. The Development and Demonstration of A Coordinated and
 Integrated Program of Occupational Information, Selection, and Preparation
 in A Secondary School. Final Report. Manhattan, Kansas: Kansas State Univ.,
 1968. (ED 022 961)
- Bennett, Robert L. <u>Career Education Planning for the 1970's and 1980's.</u>

 <u>Planning Report Number 1.</u> San Mateo, California: San Mateo Junior Coll.

 District, 1973. (ED 089 088).
- Budke, Wesley Eugene. <u>Review and Synthesis of Information on Occupational</u>
 <u>Exploration</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1971. (ED 056 165)
- Career Development in Nevada. Carson City, Nev.: Nevada State Dept. of Education, 1973. (ED 078 207)
- Career Education (Alabama). Montgomery, Ala.: Alabama State Dept. of Education, 1972. (ED 075 662)
- Career Education. A Plan for Implementation in Utah].
 Utah State Board of Education, 1972. (ED 094 225)
- Cunha, Joseph E., Ed., and Others. <u>Career Development: A California Model</u>
 <u>for Career Guidance Curriculum K-Adult.</u> California Personnel and <u>Guidance Association Monograph Number 5</u>. Sacramento, California State Dept. of Education, Bureau of Pupil Personnel Services, 1972. (ED 075 672)
- Darcy, Robert L., and Others. Workshop in Developing Guidelines for Planning Career Development Programs K-12 in Ohio. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Dept. of Education, 1971. (ED 052 477)
- Developmental Program Goals for the Comprehensive Career Education Model. [with a Review.] New York, N.Y.: Institute for Educational Development; and Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education; and Palo Alto, Calif.: Westinghouse Learning Corp., 1973. (ED 082 059)
- Edington, Everett I., and Conley, Howard K. <u>Career Education Handbook for Rural School Administrators</u>. University Park, N.M.: New Mexico State Univ., ERIC Clearinghouse on Rural Education and Small Schools, 1973. (ED 073 861)
- Forward Plan for Career Education Research and Development. Draft for Discussion.

 Washington, D.C.: National Inst. of Education DHEW), Career Education Fask
 Force, 1973.- (ED 076 849)
- Frantz, Nevin R., Jr. <u>Career Cluster Concepts</u>. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ., Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 079 470)
- Grede, John F. Career Education for Community Colleges: Some Suggestions for Traditional Community Colleges Trying to Make the Transition. <u>Illinois Career Education Journal</u>, 1972, 30(1), 31-35. (EJ 065 536)
- Guide to Structure and Articulation of Occupational Education Programs (Grade 7 through 12 and Post-High School). Salem, Ore.: Oregon State Dept. of Education, Div. of Community Colleges and Vocational Education, 1968. (ED 023 856)



- Gysbers, Norman C., and Moore, Earl J. Career Guidance: Program Content and Staff Responsibilities. American Vocational Journal, 1972, 47(3), 60-62.
- Handbook for Implementation of Career Education in the Middle School. Fort Worth, Tex.: Fort Worth Public Schools, 1972. (ED 089 081)
- Hoyt, Kenneth B., and Others. <u>Career Education and the Elementary School</u>
 <u>Teacher.</u> Salt Lake City, Utah: Olympus Publishing Company, 1973. (ED 095 272)
- Institute for Principals, Planning and Implementing Programs in Vocational Education. Athens, Ga.: Georgia Univ., Coll. of Education, 1971. (ED 080 761)
- Kenoyer, Charles E. The Application of the Evaluation Model to a Career Education Product.

 (ED 080 610)

 Charleston, W.Va.: Appalachia Educational Lab., 1973.
- Kerlan, Julius H., and Ryan, Charles W. New Interpretations of Guidance Role. <u>American Vocational Journal</u>, 1972, 47(2), 77-80. (EJ 051 521)
- Kraft, Richard H.P. <u>Perspectives on Progress: Career Education in Florida;</u>
 <u>Statewide Evaluation of Vocational-Technical Education 1970-1971.</u>
 Tallahassee, Fla.: Florida State Univ., Dept. of Educational Administration, 1971. ED 056 235)
- Lavin, Richard J. Building Linkage and Support Capabilities at the Local Education Level. Chelmsford, Mass.: Marrimack Education Center, 1974.
- Maxie, Francoise. Career Education: Toward a Model for Statewide Planning.

 A Report of the National Dissemination Project for the Community Colleges.

 Seattle, Wash.: Washington State Board for Community Coll. Education,

 Research and Planning Office. Publisher unlisted. Date not indicated. (ED 077 489).
- Maxie, Francoise. Career Education: Concepts, Components, and Planning. A Report of the National Dissemination Project for the Community Colleges. Seattle, Wash.: Washington State Board for Community Coll. Education, Research and Planning Office. Publisher unlisted. Date not indicated. (ED 077 490).
- McMinn, J. H., and Morris, Ken, Comps. <u>Career Education: A Handbook for Program Initiation</u>. Jackson, Miss.: <u>Mississippi State Dept. of Education</u>, Div. of Vocational and Technical Education, 1972. (ED 073 188).
 - Mead, Rosemary, and Others. <u>Guidelines for Career Awareness</u>. Owensboro, Ky.: Owensboro Extension Center, 1972. (ED 074 265)
 - Miller, F.M. Evaluating Career Education: Elementary. <u>School Shop</u>, 33(6), 47-8. (EJ 092 290)
 - Needham, Raymond, and Binnie, Arthur. <u>Improving Occupational Orientation</u>

 Programs for Junior High School Students in Metropolitan Areas. Final Report.

 Auburn, Wash.: Green River Community Coll., 1971. (ED 055 242).

- Proceedings of a National Invitational Conference on Post-Secondary Career

 Education for State Directors of Vocational Education, Community/Junior

 Colleges, Adult and Continuing Education. Final Report. Florida: Center
 for State and Regional Leadership; and Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Univ.,
 Center for Vocational and Technical Education, 1973. (ED 079 536)
- Report on the Vocational Education Effort in Iowa, 1972. Des Moines, Ia.: Iowa State Career Education Advisory Council, 1972. (ED 075 671)
- Self-Instruction Systems: An Alternate Socio-Technological Approach to
 National Education and Training. A Research Report and Prospectus.
 Atlanta, Ga.: Georgia Inst. of Tech., School of Information Science, 1971.
 (ED 081 194)
- Shook, Mollie W., and Morgan, Robert L. A Manual for the Implementation and Administration of Career Education Programs. Raleigh, N.C.: North Carolina State Univ., Center for Occupational Education, 1973. (ED 076 752)
- Thompson, Albert S., and Others. The Educational and Career Exploration
 System: Field Trial and Evaluation in Montclair High School. New York,
 N.Y.: Columbia Univ., Teachers College, 1970. (ED 046 005)
- VanRooy, William H. A Conceptual Model of the World of Work. Carbondale, Ill.: Southern Illinois Univ., Career Development for Children Project, 1972. (ED 078 194)
- Vocational Counseling: A Plan for the Development of a Vocational Guidance

 Program. Prince Albert (Saskatchewan): Training Research and Development
 Station, 1973. (ED 085 472)

Appendix A. 4

EDUCATION IN CAREER EDUCATION

- Blair, Margaret, and Others. A Regional Institute to Aid Improvement of
 Instructional Practices, Materials and Student Experiences for Coordinators
 and Instructors of Vocational Orientation Programs. Final Report.
 N.J.: New Jersey State Dept. of Education, 1968. (ED 019 507)
- Branscome, James. Seeking Equal Educational Opportunity for Appalachian Youth. Paper presented to the West Virginia Council of Colleges on Appalachian Youth (Buckhannon, West Virginia), 1970. (ED 091 097)
- Brunetti, Gerald J. Career Education, CBTE (Competency Based Teacher Education), and the Politics of Change in Teacher Education. Paper presented at the Annual Meeting of the Conference on English Education (Cleveland, Ohio), 1974. (ED 090 534)
- Career-Centered Curriculum Workshop Handbook. New Albany, Miss.: New Albany City Schools, 1971. (ED 076 798)
- Career Education in the Elementary School: An Infused Approach. Greenvale, N.Y.: Long Island Univ., Graduate School of Education, 1973. (ED 082 026)
- Darcy, Robert L., and Others. Workshop in Developing Guidelines for Planning

 Career Development Programs K-12 in Ohio. Columbus, Ohio: Ohio State Dept.

 of Education, 1971. (ED 052 477)
- Daugherty, Ronald, Comp., and Others. <u>Proceedings of the National Seminar</u> for State Directors of Community-Junior Colleges (January 10-11, 1972). <u>Final Report</u>. Publisher unlisted, 1972. (ED 062 520)
- Evans, Rupert N. The Secondary School and Occupational Preparation. Prepared for the Conference on Transition from School to Work (Princeton University), 1968. Sponsored by the National Manpower Policy Task Force. NASSP Bulletin, 1969, 53(334), 23-40. (EJ 004 403)
- Experimental Summer Program for High School Seniors and Faculty. San Francisco, Calif.: San Francisco City Coll., 1967. (ED 019 442)
- Gysbers, Norman C. <u>Proceedings</u>, <u>National Seminar on Vocational Guidance</u>, (Northern Michigan University, August 21-26, 1966). Washington, D.C.: American Vocational Assn., 1967. (ED 019 520)
- Harrison, Don K., and Others. A Set of Generalizations and Implications for New Developments in Guidance and Personnel Services; Guidance and Student Services for the Culturally Different. Ann Arbor, Mich.: ERIC Clearinghouse on Counseling and Personnel Services, 1970. (ED 037 596)
- Hewitt, Charles F. Efficiency Toward Completing Bachelor Degree Requirements at Western Michigan University: A Study Comparing Two-Year College Transfer Students and Native Students Earning Bachelor Degrees in 1970. Kalamazoo, Mich.: Western Michigan Univ., 1971. (ED 058 865)
- Institute for Principals, Planning and Implementing Programs in Vocational
 Education. Athens, Ga.: Georgia Univ., Coll. of Education, 1971. (ED 080 761)
- Kennedy, E.G. <u>Career Development Workshop (Topeka, Kansas, June 1-4, 1969)</u>.
 Topeka, Kansas: Kansas State Dept. of Education, 1969. (ED 042 010)



- Marland, S.P., Jr. The Need for Career Education. Presented at Career Education Workshop in New York, 1972. (ED 067 450)
- Marland, S.P., Jr. <u>Voices From the Real World</u>. Presented at the Annual Conference of the Council of the Colleges of Arts and Sciences in Washington, D.C., 1972. (ED 078 124).
- Occupational Awareness in the Urban Middle School. A Vocational Guidance Institute,
 September, 1969 to May, 1970. Occupational Awareness in the Urban Middle School.
 A Vocational Guidance Institute, September, 1970 to May, 1971. New York, N.Y.:
 Ford Foundation, 1971. (ED 060 481)
- Phillips, P. Bertrand, and Others. How High School Counselors Can Assist Students to Successfully Enter Government and Industry, Workshop on Vocational and Occupational Guidance in the Sixties and Seventies (May 8-9, 1964). Tuskegee, Ala.: Tuskegee Inst., 1964. (ED 015 250)
- Pinson, Nancy M. The Maryland Career Development Project (K-Adult): Career Exploration Workshops (Júnior High). Second Progress Report. Baltimore, Maryland: Maryland State Dept. of Education, Div. of Vocational-Technical Education, 1971. (ED/079 487)
- Proceedings Fourth Annual Conference of Guidance Personnel in Occupational
 Education. Albany, N.Y.: New York State Education Dept., Bureau of Guidance,
 1970. (ED 047 326)
- Programs, Problems and Needs in Women's Continuing Education; Proceedings of a Statewide Conference for Institutions of Higher Education, Community and Government Representatives (Seattle, Washington, November 8, 1968). Seattle, Wash: Washington Univ., Office of Women's Continuing Education, 1968. (ED 032 456)
- Robbins, William A. Concerns and Recommendations; A Report of the Colloquium on Occupational Counseling and Guidance. Albany, N.Y.: State Univ. of New York, Two Year Coll. Student Development Center, 1972. (ED 066 071)
- Robson, Virginia, and Acord, David L. <u>Counselor Awareness Program for Vocational Education. Final Report.</u> Charleston, W.Va.: Kanawha County Board of Education, 1972. (ED 068 652)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Atlanta.

 Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 230)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Dallas. Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 231)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Chicago. Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 232)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Boston. Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 233)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Kansas City.

 Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 236)

- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, New York. Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 228)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, Philadelphia.

 Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 229)
- The Secretary's Regional Conferences on Vocational Education, San Francisco.

 Summary, 1971. Washington, D.C.: Office of Education (DHEW), 1971. (ED 056 167)
- Skaggs, Kenneth G., and Menefee, Selden, Eds. Career Curriculum Building in the Community College: Selected Proceedings of Two Workshops: Central Piedmont Community College (Charlotte, N.C., March 23-25, 1972) and Community College of Denver (Denver, Colo., May 4-6, 1972). Washington, D.C.: American Association of Junior Colleges, 1972. (ED 083 432).
- Syhlman, Bill Duane. <u>Identification of In-Service Personnel Development Needs</u>
 in Career Awareness for Portland and Seattle Elementary Schools. Ann Arbor,
 Mich.: University Microfilms, 1973. (ED 078 197)
- Technical Education: Careers Unlimited. Proceedings of the National Clinic on Technical Education (9th, Fort Worth, Texas, March 15-17, 1972). Delmar, N.Y.: American Technical Education Association, Inc., 1972. (ED 087 863)
- Unger, Myron B., and Karlin, Muriel. A Mocational Resources Conference.

 Vocational Guidance Quarterly, 1969, 17(4), 300-02. (EJ UUJ 974)
- Unifying a Career Development Theme in the Curriculum Through Teacher In-Service

 Activities. Final Report: Models for Secondary Career Education in Ioway

 Final Report: Final Report Addendum. Des Moines, Ia.: Iowa State Dept.

 Public Instruction, Div. of Career Education, 1973. (ED 084 409)
- Woodin, Ralph. Supervising Occupational Experience in Business Education. A Report of A Workshop on Supervising Occupational Experience in Business Education (New Mexico State University, Carlsbad Branch, August 8-24, 1966)

 Carlsbad, N.M.: New Mexico Occupational Res. and Dev. Coor. Unit, 1966.

 (ED 013 332)

100

Appendix B

A BRIEF INTRODUCTION TO ERIC

ъу

ERIC CLEARNINGHOUSE ON INFORMATION RESOURCES

A BRIEF INTRODUCTION TO ERIC



EDUCATIONAL RESOURCES INFORMATION CENTER

ERIC (Educational Resources Information Genter) is a national information system dedicated to the dissemination of educational research results, practitioner oriented materials, and other resource information that can be used in developing more effective education programs.

Department of Health, Education and Weffare. Through a network of 16 Clearinghouses, each of which is responsible for particular educational areas, ERIC acquires, evaluates, abstracts, indexes and lists materials and documents in two main reference publications, Resources in Education (RIE) and Current Index to Journals in Education (CIE). These reference publications provide access to report sign movative educational programs, current practices of teachers and significant efforts in educational research, both current and historical.

Further, each Clearinghouse generates newsbriefs, bibliographies, research reviews, states of the art, and other interpretive materials. The ERIC Clearinghouse on Information Resources will mail you an application to be added to its mailing list. Write them at the Stanford Center for Research and Development in Teaching, School of Education, Stanford University, Stanford, California 94305.

HOW TO FIND INFORMATION

RIE and CI/E offer a variety of approaches to finding information. You can search by:

- Subject—to find documents and projects on specific subject topics through the use of descriptors (subject index terms).
- Author or investigator—to find out what an author has written or to learn what an investigator is doing now.
- Institution—to find out what an institution has published;
 what projects are now being conducted.
- Accession number—to identify a document when only the Clearinghouse or "ED" number is available.

FOUR STEPS TO SEARCHING

The most popular kind of search—a subject search—follows these four steps:

- 1. Refer to the *Thesaurus* of ERIC Descriptors to find out how the ERIC subject indexes are organized. You will find under the subject heading you choose other suggestions for closely-related terms which also can be used in your search. You may find other terms which the subject heading is Used For (UF), as well as any Broader Terms (BT), Narrower Terms (NT), and Related Terms (RT).
- 2. Check the indexes, RIE and CIIE. Using the terms selected in the first step, check the monthly or annual issues of RIE arid/or CIIE for reports or other documents which will be identified by their accession or "ED" numbers.
- 3. Read the abstracts or annotations. The abstracts in the monthly issues of RIE may provide the information you need. In any case, they will help you decide if you wish to order a copy of the complete documents.

The article annotations in the monthly issues of CIJE will help you determine whether or not you wish to locate a particular journal.

4. Order the document or locate it in a library Most documents indexed in R/E are available in microfiche or hardcopy from the ERIC Document Reproduction Service in Arlington, Virginia, Also, there are full collections of ERIC microfiche in over 500 school, university, and state departments of education libraries. Copies of the journals indexed in CI/E are available in many libraries, too.

HOW TO ORDER REFERENCE TOOLS

Resources in Education. A monthly abstract journal and index which identifies research reports, conference proceedings, practitioner-related materials, and other documents of educational significance, regardless of source, It is indexed by subject, author or investigator, and institution. \$42.70 a year in the U.S., \$10.70 extra for foreign subscriptions; single copies \$3.60, from the U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402.

Current Index to Journals in Education. A monthly index to the educational literature in over 100 periodicals, organized by author and subject, with short annotations.

\$50.00 a year in the U.S., two semi-annual cumulations \$40.00; single copy \$4.75 from Macmillan Information, A Division of Macmillan Publishing Co., Inc., 216R Brown St., Riverside, N.J., 08075.

Thesaurus of ERIC Descriptors. A structured compilation of the terms used to index documents and articles for RIE and CIJE. This edition contains all new terms added as of January 1974. \$7.95 paperback from Macmillan Information, at above address.

Information on obtaining all back cumulated issues of RIE and CIJE appears on the last few pages of each monthly issue of RIE.

Computer Searching: ERIC can be searched by computer. For information, write the ERIC Clearinghouse on Information Resources at Stanford or Operations Research Inc., 4833 Rugby Ave., Suite 303, Bethesda, Maryland 20014.

HOW TO ORDER DOCUMENTS

To enable readers to obtain the full texts of most documents cited in the monthly issues of Resources In Education, ERIC has established the ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS).

EDRS supplies documents in two forms:

- Microfiche—4 by 6 inch sheets of microfilm on which up to 98 pages of text can be reproduced.
- Hardcopy—reproduction of the document, on paper, in its original size.

Documents must be order by ED number, and payment must be included with orders. Prices are based on number of pages. For prices of documents, check any issue of RIE, or write EDRS for a price sheet. Orders and information can be directed to: ERIC Document Reproduction Service (EDRS), P.O. Box 190, Arlington, Virginia 22210 (703) 841-1212. Individual Clearinghouses cannot supply microfiche or hardcopy.

EDRS also offers standing orders with all ERIC microfiche supplied on a monthly basis.